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Financial Highlights

FISCAL YEARS ENDED (In millicns, except per share amounts and ratios) November 1, 2008 November 3, 200701 October 28, 2006

OPERATING RESULTS

Net Sales $1,398.9 $1,452.0 $1,485.6
Sales Volume in Pounds 1,236.0 1,436.0 1,460.0
Operating Earnings $ (228.3) S 724 S 914
Operating Earnings excluding Special ltemst® 28.1 77.1 96.4

Net Earnings {192.1) 33.8 38.8
Net Earnings excluding Special ltemst® 6.9 36.7 46.5
Cash Flow from Operations 96.6 104.0 i27.5

Free Cash Flow!3 79.3 69.3 103.6
SHARES AND PER SHARE DATA

Weighted Average Diluted Shares Outstanding 30.3 32.2 32.3
Earnings per Share - Diluted $ (6.39) S 1.05 S
Dividends Declared per Share 0.37 .54

Book Value per Share 7.42 14.37 13.7¢

FINANCIAL POSITION

Net Working Capital $ 992 $ 1318 $ 1365
Net Working Capital as & Percent of Sales 7.1% Q1%
Total Debt $ 2747 $ 3343 5 2892
Shareholders’ Equity 226.8 439.3 442.7
Debt to Equity Ratio 1.21 0.76

) Spartech’s fiscal year ends on the Saturday closest to October 31. Because of this convention, every fifth or sixth fiscal year has an additional week, and 2007
was reported as a b3-week year, On September 14, 2007, the Company acquired Creative Forming, Inc, based in Ripon, Wisconsin.

) Operating earnings excluding special items and net earnings excluding special items are non-GAAP measurements that we believe are meaningful to investors
because they provide a view of the Company's comparable operating results. Special items, including goodwill impairments, fixed asset and other intangible asse
impairments, restructuring and exit costs, a former CEQ's separation expense and early debt extinguishment costs, represent significant items that we believel
are important to an understanding of the Company's overalt operating results in the periods presented. Such non-GAAP measurements are not recognized in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles {GAAP) and should not be viewed as an alternative to GAAP measures of performance. 2008 operating
loss and net loss include special items of $256.5 million {$199.0 million net of tax) refating to goodwill impairments of $238.6 millioa ($185.2 million net of tax),
fixed asset and other intangihle asset impairments of $15.5 million ($12.3 million net of tax), and restructuring and exit costs of $2.3 million {($1.5 million net of
tax). 2007 operating earnings and net earnings include special items of $4.7 million ($2.9 million net of tax) relating to a separation agreement with our former
Chief Executive Officer of $1.9 million {$1.1 million net of tax), an intangible asset impairment of $1.6 million (51,0 milticn net of tax) and restructuring and exit
costs of $1.3 million {$0.8 million net of tax). 2006 operating earnings and net earnings included special items of $5.0 million (54.3 million net of tax) related to
restructuring and exii costs of $1.9 million {$1.2 millien net of tax) and goodwill impairment of $3.2 million ($3.2 million net of tax). In addition, 2006 net earnings
alse included special items of $5,5 millian ($3.4 million net of tax) related to the early extinguishment of convertible subordinated debentures.
|Free cash flow is calculated as cash flow from cperations less capital expenditures. We believe that free cash flow, which is a non-GAAP measurement,
is a meaningful measure of the cash generated by the Company that is available for strategic initiatives. Free cash flow is not a measurement of liguidity
under GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to cash flow from operating activities as a measure of liquidity. Free cash flow for fiscal 2008,
2007 and 2006 is calculated as cash flow from operating activities of $96.6 million, $104.0 million and $127.5 million less cagital expenditures of
$17.3 million, $34.7 million and $24.C million, respectively.

NET EARNINGS CASH FLOW
NET SALES EXCLUDING SPECIAL ITEMS@ FROM OPERATIONS TOTAL DEBT
{In millions) {In millions) {In millians,) {In millions)
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Dear Shareholders,

As we entered 2008, it was evident that Spartech had tremendous core

Strengths and capabilities, but was under-performing operationally

and financially. We moved quickly to conduct an extensive strategic review,

which resulted in a unique opportunity to make substantial improvements

and ultimately transform the company. Using our core strengths as the

foundation, we developed a new Strategy, which includes a financial

improvement plan and a detailed road map that is focused on improving our

competitive advantage and ensuring true leadership in our core businesses. We
are committed to providing maximum value for our customers and believe that
this strategy will help us leverage our leadership position in specialty plastics to

create more innovation and deliver unmatched solutlons for our customers.

SPARTECH AT A GLANCE

Percent of Total Sales 45% 20% 30% 5%

Spartech Corporation Custom Sheet Spartech Packaging Color and Specialty Engineered

is a feading producer of and Rollstock Technologies Compounds Products

extruded thermoplastic North America’s feading A leading manufacturer Extensive product portfolio  Manufactures proprietary
sheet and rofistock, rigic producer of thick-gauge of barrier and non-barrier and broad equipment items for a variety of

packaging, polymeric
compounds, and custom
engineered plastic products
defivering performance and
customer solutions, through
efficient manufacturing
processes and innovation.

and mufti-layer sheets
that customers thermoform
and shape into components
for eng-use progucts as
diverse as appliances,
commaercial signs, 5pas,
and large equipment parts.

rollstock and thermoformed
containers for the food,

consumer products, graphic
arts and medical industries.

capabilities deliver sheet
products, engineering resin
compounds, color and
additive concentrates, and
proprietary products such
as Korad™ laminating film.

industrigs, including
thermaoplastic wheels,
window frames, fencing,
and other custom
profile extruded and
acrylic products.




To ensure that we built from a solid foundation, we started with
the basics. We defined our vision as being the leading producer
of plastic sheet, compounding, and packaging products.

Qur strategic process remains on course despite considerable
challenges from the most severe economic downturn in decades
and crisis conditions in the automobile and housing industries.
While these are challenging times, unprecedented in many
respects, they are providing the opportunity for us to accelerate
the implementation of our new strategy in the near term and
better position Spartech for enhanced performance in the future.

OUR STRATEGIC ROAD MAP

Our new strategy is broad-based. The current year efforts
included portfalio assessments, new business strategies, asset
restructurings, organizational upgrades and redesign, business
process reengineering, improvements in margins and mix, and
a major cast reduction initiative focused on buitding a low
cost-to-serve model.

As a company we have never fully realized our full value from
a successful acquisition strategy because of our decentralized
approach to the management of our plants and business units.
Spartech has many unique opportunities to improve ¢ost and
operating efficiencies, consolidate manufacturing, better
leverage technology for growth, and gain value from building

a single company operating culture.

To ensure we buitt from a solid foundation, we started with the
basics. We defined our vision as being the leading producer of
plastic sheet, compeunding, and packaging products. We want
to be known for quality, cost competitiveness, and innovation.
In a company comprised of more than two dozen acquisitions
made over the past 15 years, we are now developing a

One Spartech culture that values safety, high perfarmance,
customer satisfaction, teamwork, diversity, sustainability,
and uncompromising integrity.

PROGRESS REPORT
We have made substantial progress in 2008. We have:

+ Developed our strategy and vision, and redefined core
values as the foundation of our company.

» Created a strong leadership team; building on our tremendous
industry experience, we added highly-skilled, new leadership
in manufacturing and commercial excellence and technology

roles to our new functional organization to increase
operational effectiveness, enhance organic growth and
accelerate profitable innovation.

Continued our company-wide ERP systern implementation
with 75 percent of our sites completed, leveraging our
investment to better mine, analyze, and measure data to
enhance our operating performance.

Created Spartech Packaging Technologies, signaling our
intent to grow in this business, and integrated our $50 million
Creative Forming acquisition into this platform.

Established better pricing disciplines and more effective
commercial processes that enabled us to manage through
record raw material fluctuations and improve margins. These
processes will help us focus on a better mix and segmentation
to enhance future earnings.

Streamlined our manufacturing cost structure, closing three
production facilities and reducing costs by approximately
$25 million annually.

Initiated further actions to realize an additional $25 million in
cost reduction in 2009, including consolidating procurement,
implementing shared services, improving segmentation, and
further optimizing our plant cost footprint across the company.

FISCAL 2008 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

We made measurable improvements in margins-and product mix -
while generating solid operating cash flow during fiscal 2008 in
spite of the continued declining economy and lower velumes, but
clearly maost of the positive improvements executed in 2008 were
offset by the negative impact of the weak end market demand.

Net sales declined 4 percent to $1.4 billion, reflecting lower
volumes that were partially offset by higher selling prices from
the pass-through of resin cost increases and sales mix changes.
Operating earnings declined from $77.1 million in 2007 to
$28.1 million in 2008, excluding non-cash charges associated
with goodwill and asset impairments and restructuring and exit
costs related to our cost-reduction initiatives. This decline in
earnings was primarily attributable to the impact of weak
demand which was partially offset by improved pricing and
cost reductions realized in the second half of the year.




Myles S. Odaniell, President and Chief Executive Officer, leads the Spartech management team that is focused on leveraging Spartach’s leadership in
specialty plastics to continue innovation and accelerate growth. The executive team includes, back row from left to right, Marc Roberts, Senior Vice
President Operations; Myles S. Odaniell, President and Chief Executive Officer; Steven Ploeger, Executive Vice President Sheet and Engineered Products;
Michael Marcely, Vice President Financial Planning and Analysis; David Gorenc, Vice President Packaging Technologies; Michael Roane, Senior Vice
President Human Resources; Robert Byrne, Vice President and Chief Information Officer; Randy Martin, Executive Vice President Corporate Development
and Chief Financial Officer. Froni row, Michas! Marcum, Senior Vice President Color and Specialty Compounds; Phil Karig, Vice President and Chief
Procurement Officer; Janet Mann, Senior Vice President Marketing, Technology and Commercial Development.

Despite the operating environment and earnings performance

in 2008, we continue to generate solid cash flows. For the year,
we realized $96.6 million in cash flows from operations and paid

down $57.2 miliion in debt.

In keeping with our strategic repositioning, we completed a
refinancing that included new agreements with both public
debt and private placement helders. The new credit agree-
ments provides Spartech financial flexibility to implement our
new strategy and lay the foundation for stronger performance
in the future.

2009 PRIORITIES

We continue to strengthen our balance sheet and produce cash
flows that allow us to reduce debt and invest in our future. We
made significant progress during 2008 reducing our structural
operating cost, and it will continue to be a major focus in 2009,
Our commercial excellence, technology, and sustainable solution
platforms will allow us to rejuvenate growth and better position
the company for stronger performance when the ecenomy
recovers. We continue to realign resources and add new
processes to drive future growth znd ensure long-term success.

In addition to our structural improvements and cost reduction
activities that are part of our financial improvement plan, we are
taking further short term actions to align operating costs with
current demand levels. We are focused on initiatives to control

spending in the short term while we continue addressing
opportunities to improve our longer term cost footprint, and
build an crganization with the right people and capabilities
to better position our company for the future.

These efforts could not succeed without the unselfish commit-
ment and strong work ethic of our employees, many of whom
are experiencing what is undoubtedly the most demanding time
in their careers.

Our team is realistic about the challenges ahead, and we
remain focused and energized by the opportunity to transform
our company. We appreciate the support of our Board of
Directors and our investors as we continue to make solid
progress to capitalize on our strengths, execute our strategy
and provide unmatched solutions for cur customers to deliver

superior performance.

g S crass

Myles S. Odaniell
President and
Chief Executive Officer

January 12, 2009




in custom sheet
and rollstock

Spartech’s new Greenville, Ohio, pfant
consolidates production of plastic sheet
and rofistock from several smalier, less
cost-effective facilities. Spartech is
North America’s leading supplier of
rigid extruded materials, with 15 plants
in the U.S., Canada, and Mexico.
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CUSTOM SHEET AND ROLLSTOCK SPARTECH PACKAGING TECHNOLOGIES COLOR AND SPECIALTY COMPOUNDS
* No. ! producer of custom sheet * leaderin North America for * Broad product portfolio
and rofistock in North America multti-fayer barrier products

« Significant materials expertise

* industry’s most complete product offering = Significant design and engineering expertise « Broad equipment capabilities

* Significant economies of scale * Strong base in rigid thermoforming . Highly specialized, value-added products

« Extensive exrrusro.n‘ ?nd polymer . 0,0.,DOI‘[UHI'I‘.'ES in value-added, v Provides vertical integration for sheet,
processing capabilities growth-oriented markets enmineaing prod g 0ine ciivision




Our Strengths

Spartech’s strengths are founded in the depth of our industry knowledge, our
customers, our strong businesses and our people. Our expertise in materials,
compounding, extrusion and thermoforming drive vertically integrated solutions
and deliver effective product design and innovation to our customers. Qur knowledge
and capabilities span a wide portfolio of products, including the development and
commercialization of proprietary technologies. With our comprehensive focus in
plastics processing across all businesses, we are also able to effectively leverage
our economies of scale in the value chain.

Spartech serves more than 2,800 customers, including original equipment manufacturers,
secondary processors, and distributors, Customers in North America — many of which are
household names in a broad variety of industries — account for 95 percent of our sales with
no one customer representing more than five percent of the total. This broad and diverse
market presence is one of Spartech’s most important attributes.

Our market-leading Custom Sheet and Rollstock business provides the raw materials for
thousands of everyday products, ranging from signs to spas to refrigerators. We can meet
customer specifications for nearly any color and degree of opacity and gloss. Offering the
broadest line of plastic resins in the industry, we support our market leadership with extensive
muiti-layer co-extrusions and polymer processing capabilities along with unique proprietary
products such as sheet with Korad® printed film.

Spartech Packaging Technologies is a leading producer of multi-layer barrier products for food
packaging with a growing presence in consumer and medical products packaging. Packaging
represents an attractive market opportunity, offering increased demand, lower vulnerability
during economic downturns and unique attributes for differentiation andg growth.

Qur Color and Specialty Compounds division provides an extensive product portfolio to a wide
range of plastics processors and OEMs. Additionally, this business unit provides vertical integration
to supply unigue solutions to our Fackaging, Custom Sheet and Engineered Products groups.

Spartech’s Engineered Products division is comprised of several different specialty businesses.
QOur leadership position in wheels continues to be a strong business driver offering custom
solutions and patented products to the industry.

Spartech’s people are one of our greatest strengths. With a combination of deep knowledge
in their areas of expertise in the company and industry along with the addition of new talent in
functional excellence and leadership, the company is proving its ability to adapt to the changing
market. Spartech’s people provide the opportunity for us to capitalize on our strong industry
position, diverse end markets and customer base, comprehensive product portfolio and culture
of innovation to bring the greatest solutions and most value to our customers.

PRODUCT VERSATILITY

A core Spartech strength is our
ability to supply a significant range
of plastic products and solutions.
QOur unmatched market presence
reflects a spectrum of compounds
and the ability to formulate and
engineer customized applications.

DIVERSE END MARKETS

27% Packaging
19%  Transportation
18% Building & Construction
10% Recreation & Leisure
8% Sign & Advertising
7% Appliance & Electronics
6% Lawn & Garden
5% Other

OREEEONES

PRODUCT PORTFOLIO &
MATERIALS EXPERTISE*

W 25% Polystyrene
W 20% Polyethylene
B 20% Polypropylene
0O 10% ABS

B 5% PVC

0 20% Other

*Estimated mix of sales
by basic material type




Our Strategy

VALUE-ADDED PACKAGING
Spartech is a leading producer
of sustainable thermoformad
containers for high-value food
crops such as strawberries and
blueberries. Spartech’s expertise
matches resing and manufacturing
processes to customer criteria for
the benefit of a broad spectrum
of end users.

In early 2008, Spartech conducted an extensive strategic review process, realigning
the company’s strategy into five major strategic components:

* Create One Spartech culture

* Deliver significant near-term financial improvement initiatives

* Realign our portfolio to focus on our core business segments

+ Rejuvenate focus on organic growth, technology, and innovation

* Focus on building a strong packaging platform

Over the past 15 years, Spartech was built through more than two dozen acquisitions of companies
of various sizes; companies with different capabilities, systems, business models, organizaticnal

structures, and focus. Although these acquisitions created leadership positions for our businesses,

the decentralized organization and focus was not cptimal to achieve cur desired level of future
success. The addition of key leadership and functional expertise in the company and the creation
of a matrix organization with business units designed to create a single company fecus that has
critical mass with compelling opportunities to improve margins, reduce costs, enhance efficiencies
and accelerate growth. This One Spartech culture will also help us achieve a foundation of core

values and a single focus on delivering maximum company value.

We have identified $50 millicn in savings from near-term financial impravement opportunities.
In 2008, we delivered annualized savings of $25 million. We have taken steps to reduce our
manufacturing footprint and will continue this process in 2009. During 2008, we closed operations
in Mankato, Minnesota and St. Clair, Michigan, consolidating these operations into other
facilities, along with terminating a compounding joint venture in South Carolina. As we work to
build low-cost manufacturing, our world-class Polyolefin site in Greenville, Ohio, was completed
in 2008 as a LEED Siiver Certified facility. The Greenville plant has the lowest cost structure
in North America, offering unparalleled capabilities in the industry. Spartech is committed to
creating a culture of continuous improvement and to achieving sustainabie low-cost manufacturing
and cost to serve our business model,

We made significant progress in 2008, developing standard commercial practices and segmentation
with demonstrated increased unit margins during the year. A central procurement organization
was created to bring economies of scale to our purchasing across the entire organization, We
refocused our efforts to adopt Oracle as the comgany-wide platform to improve business information
and systems that support the new processes. This platform has enabled the consolidaticn of
plant-based support functions into a shared services environment.

In the realignment of our business portfolio, we determined which businesses were core to
the long-term success of Spartech. We are committed to further strengthening our leadership
position in the Custom Sheet and Roilstock business, to growing our Packaging business and
to maximizing the cash from our Color and Compounding business by providing innovative
solutions to customers in these markets.




1/3 of sales

Spartech is particularly welf positipned to take advantage of
projected growth in the packaging industry. Our goal is to derive
one-third of total sales from our patkaging platform. An important
avenue for that growth is the food industry, which counts on
sustainable plastic packaging like that produced at our Ripon,
Wisconsin plant, above,

OUR VISION:

To be the leading producer of plastic sheet, compounding
and packaging products, knowp world-wide for the highest
standard of quality, cost competitiveness and innovation,

OUR MISSION:

We will strive to ensure that Spartech is recognized

for a vatue-driven performancr% culture focused on:

* Being our customers’ most valued supplier

+ Consistently delivering on olr individual and company-
wide commitments and thereby generating sustainable
and top-tier returns for our shareholders

* The commitment of every EIlI“Ip|0yEE in the company
to continuous improvement Iin all we do

= Being an innovative company to fuel profitable growth
and provide value-added solhtions to our customers

Being a great place for our employees to work and




Spartech began the process of realigning resources into a growth organization to
provide future solutions for our customers. Spartech is well positioned with a strong
value chain from processing through finished packaged goods and our goal is to
expand our capabilities to generate innovative, cost-effective products for the market,

Product Material Tooli Sh P On-time
Conception s ;’iterlla ’ . odom_g [> " eet D l:rom_nct Delivery
and Design election roduction xtrusion orming Performance

We are committed to ongoing research and development that helps customers meet their
product goals. Much of this work comes together in three distinct areas of excellence:

1. Material Development Center - develops proprietary resins and additive compounds
to create unique finished properties that are fundamental resources to our new product and
applications development. It also has rapid color-matching capabilities to support the color
concentrate business.

2, Product Development Center - [eads the industry in developing unique material and
extrusion processing capabilities to manufacture products that resolve a wide variety of issues
facing our customers (lighter weight, processing efficiency, use of recycled materials, toughness,
and aesthetics). A competitive differentiator for Spartech is our ability to develop full-scale
preduction samples for our customers. Our {ull-scale thermoforming equipment allows customers
to troubleshoot at our facility with their own molds.

3. Spartech’s Packaging Technologies Center - Generates custom designs and utilizes rapid
prototyping to produce creative packaging solutions that provide a unique advantage for our
customers and growth opportunities for Spartech.

To enhance the development effort, Spartech is realigning resources to field commercial and

market development to support cur business. This group's goal is to bridge technology with

sales and marketing, drive ideas from the market to our laboratories and deliver market solutions
on a broader and more accelerated basis,

Another coare value at Spartech is sustainability. We were among the first in our industry
to introduce environmentally friendly products such as the Millennium™ V acrylic surface,
UliraTuf™ CX skylights to lessen dependence on electrical lighting, corn-based Rejuven8™ PLA
for packaging, and Extreme™ TPO sheet for large parts. in 2009, more sustainable products will
be commercially launched. Besides expanding our portfolio of sustainable products, new safety
programs and increased participation in recycling, landfill reduction and energy efficiency are
some examples of how we will drive improvement across the entire sustainability platform.

We are committed to leveraging our leadership position in our core markets. We continue to
make the necessary investments in people and resources to support our products and to using
our core industry knowledge and manufacturing capabilities to provide more innovative solutions
for our customers.
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Statements in this Form 10-K that are not purely historical, including statements which express the Company’s belief,
anticipation or expectation about future events, are forward-looking statements. “Forward-looking statements” within the
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 relate to future events and expectations and include statements
containing such words as “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “expects,” “would,” “should,” “will,” “will likely result,”
“forecast,” “outlook,” “projects,” and similar expressions. Forward-looking statements are based on management’s current
expectations and include known and unknown risks, uncertaintics and other factors, many of which management is unable to
predict or control, that may cause actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from those ¢xpressed or
implied in the forward-looking statements. Important factors which have impacted and could impact our operations and results
include, but are not limited to:

(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
0]
(g)
(h)
M

)
LY

M

(m)
()
(0)
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further adverse changes in economic or industry conditions, including global supply and demand conditions and prices
for products of the types we produce;

our ability to compete effectively on product performance, quality, price, availability, product development, and
customer service;

material adverse changes in the markets we serve, including the packaging, transportation, building and construction,
recreation and leisure, and other markets, some of which tend to be cyclical;

further adverse changes in the domestic automotive markets, including potential bankruptcies of one or more of the
major domestic automobile manufacturers or suppliers.

our inability to achieve the level of cost savings, productivity improvements, gross margin enhancements, growth or
other benefits anticipated from our planned improvement initiatives;

our inability to achieve the level of productivity improvements, synergies, growth or other benefits anticipated from
acquired businesses and their integration;

volatility of prices and availability of supply of energy and of the raw materials that are critical to the manufacture of
our products, particularly plastic resins derived from oil and natural gas, including future effects of natural disasters;
our inability to manage or pass-through to customers an adequate level of increases in the costs of materials, freight,
utilities, or other conversion costs;

restrictions imposed on us by instruments governing our indebtedness, the possible inability to comply with
requirements of those instruments, and inability to access capital markets;

possible asset impairment charges;

our inability to predict accurately the costs to be incurred, time taken to complete, operating disruptions therefrom, or
savings to be achieved in connection with production plant restructurings;

adverse findings in significant legal or environmental proceedings or our inability to comply with applicable
environmental laws and regulations;

adverse developments with work stoppages or labor disruptions, particularly in the automotive industry;

our inability to develop and launch new products successfully;

possible weaknesses in internal controls; and

our ability to successfully complete the implementation of a new enterprise resource planning computer system and to
obtain expected benefits from our system.

We assume no duty to update our forward-looking statements, except as required by law.



PART1
Item 1. BUSINESS

General

Spartech Corporation (the "Company™ or “Spartech™) was incorporated in the state of Delaware in 1968, succeeding a
business which had commenced operations in 1960. The Company, together with its subsidiaries, is an intermediary processor
of engineered thermoplastics. The Company converts base polymers or resins purchased from commodity suppliers into
extruded plastic sheet and rollstock, thermoformed packaging, specialty film laminates, acrylic products, specialty plastic
alloys, coler concentrates and blended resin compounds, and injection molded and profile extruded products. Qur products are
sold to original equipment manufacturers and other customers in a wide range of end markets.

Spartech is organized into three reporiable segments and one group of operating segments based on the products we
manufacture. The three reportable segments are Custom Sheet and Rollstock, Packaging Technologies and Color and Specialty
Compounds, with the remaining businesses grouped together in Engineered Products. Net sales, operating eamings (loss) and
total assets attributable to each segment and group are disclosed in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements. The percent
of consolidated net sales by segment and group for 2008 were as follows: Custom Sheet and Rollstock (45%), Packaging
Technologies (20%), Color and Specialty Compounds (30%) and Engineered Products (5%) in 2008. A description of the
reportable segments and group of operating segments, including its principal products and markets, is summarized below.

Custom Sheet and Rollstock

The Custom Sheet and Rollstock segment manufactures plastic sheet, custom rollstock, laminates and cell cast acrylic.
The principal raw materials used in manufacturing sheet and rollstock are plastic resins in pellet form. We sell sheet and
rollstock products principally through our own sales force, but we also use a limited number of independent sales
representatives. We produce and distribute the products from facilities in the United States, Canada, Mexico and France.
Finished products are formed by customers that use plastic components in their products. Our custom sheet and rollstock is
utilized in several end markets including packaging, transportation, building and construction, recreation and leisure,
electronics and appliances, signs/advertising, aerospace and numerous other end markets.

Packaging Technologies

The Packaging Technologies segment manufactures custom-designed plastic packages and custom rollstock primarily used
in the food and consumer product markets. The principal raw materials used in manufacturing packaging are plastic resins in
pellet form which we extrude into rollstock or thermoform into an end product. We sell packaging products principally
through our own sales force and produce and distribute the products from facilities in the United States.

Color and Specialty Compounds
The Color and Specialty Compounds segment is comprised of operating segments that are aggregated into a reportable

segment based on the nature of the products manufactured. This segment manufactures custom-designed plastic alloys,
compounds, color concentrates, and calendered film for utilization by a large group of manufacturing customers servicing the
automotive, building and construction, food/medical packaging, lawn and garden, electronics and appliances, and numerous
other end markets. The principal raw materials used in manufacturing specialty plastic compounds and color concentrates are
plastic resins in powder and pellet form. We also use colorants, minera! and glass reinforcements and other additives to impart
specific performance and appearance characteristics to the compounds. We sell the segment's products principally through our
own sales force, but we also use independent sales representatives. We produce and distribute these products from facilities in
the United States, Canada, Mexico and France,

Engineered Products

The Engineered Products group consists of four operating segments that are combined because each operating segment
does not meet the materiality threshold for separate disclosure. The Spartech Wheels operating segment has three facilities in
the United States and Mexico and manufactures a number of proprietary items, including thermoplastic tires and wheels for the
medical, lawn and garden, refuse container, and toy markets. The Spartech Profiles operating segment has a facility in Canada
that manufactures profile window frames and fencing for the building and construction market. The Spartech Townsend
operating segment has a facility in the United States that manufactures and sells acrylic tubes and rods to a variety of
industries, The Spartech Marine operating segment has a facility in the United States that manufactures and sells custom made
doors, hatches, cabinets and windscreens to boat manufacturers. The principal raw materials used in our manufacturing of
molded tires and wheels, profile and other engineered products are plastic resins in pellet form. Our products in this group are
generally manufactured through injection molding or profile extrusion processes. We sell the group’s products principally
through our own sales force, but we also use independent sales representatives and wholesale distributors.
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Raw Materials

The raw materials used in our production processes are largely plastic resins which are derivatives of crude oil or natural
gas and are readily available from a number of suppliers. The Company has multiple sources of supply for our raw materials
and is not significantly dependent on any one or a few suppliers. For additional information on the availability of raw materials
and price increases in raw materials and energy costs, see ltem 1A.

Production

Spartech utilizes various types of production processes and methods. The principal production processes are extrusion,
casting, compounding, calendering, printing, lamination and molding processes. Management believes the equipment,
machinery and tooling used in these processes are of modern design and are well maintained.

Intellectual Property and Trademarks

Spartech has various intellectual property and trademarks. The intellectual property includes certain product formulations.
The trademarks protect names of certain of the Company’s products. These assets are significant to the extent they provide a
certain amount of goodwill and name recognition in the industry. While proprietary intellectual property and trademarks are
important to the Company, management believes the loss or expiration of any intellectual property right or trademark would
not materially impact the Company or any of its segments.

Customer Base

We sell our products to thousands of customers in a broad range of end markets, with our largest customer accounting for
5% of our 2008 sales dollars. Qur top 25 customers represented approximately 39% of our 2008 sales dollars. Over 82% of
our sales dollars are to companies operating in the United States. Based on our classification of end markets, packaging is our
largest single market, accounting for approximately 27% of our 2008 sales dollars. The packaging market historically has
experienced faster growth and less cyclicality than the other major markets served by plastics processors. In our opinion, we
are not dependent upon any single customer and the loss of any one customer would not have a materially adverse effect on our
business other than, potentially, on a temporary basis. However, the loss of several significant customers in any one year could
adversely impact our operating results, cash flows and financial condition. The following table presents our sales dollar mix
by end market for 2008 and 2007:

2008 2007
Packaging ..o, 27 % 23 %
Transportation ..........ccccceeeeerimenins 19 21
Building and construction ................ i8 17
Recreation and leisure ............coveee.e.. 10 12
Sign and advertising .........ocoovvnnnnns 8 8
Appliance and electronics ................ 7 7
Lawn and garden ... 6 6
10717 U UP ORI TROTO 5 6
100 % 100 %

Distribution
Generally, we sell our products through our own sales force, but we also use a limited number of independent sales
representatives and wholesale distributors.

Backlog

We estimate that the total dollar value of our backlog of firm orders as of November 1, 2008 and November 3, 2007 was
approximately $101.6 million and $120.0 million, respectively, all of which we expect to ship within one year. The estimated
backlog by segment and group at November 1, 2008 and November 3, 2007 follows (in millions):

2008 2007
Custom Sheet and Rollstock............. $ 450 § 56.5
Packaging Technologies................... 259 23.0
Color and Specialty Compounds...... 284 374
Engineered Products...........ccovrenene 2.3 3.1

Competition

Spartech operates in markets that are highly competitive and that environment is expected to continue. The Company
experiences substantial competition in each of its segments and in each of the geographic areas in which it operates. Generally,
we compete on the basis of quality, price, product availability and security of supply, product development and customer
service. Important competitive factors include the ability to manufacture consistently to required quality levels, meet
demanding delivery times, provide technical support, exercise skill in raw material purchasing, achieve production efficiencies
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to make our products cost effective for our customers, and provide new product solutions to customer gpplications. Although
no single company competes directly with Spartech in all of its product lines, various companies compete in one or more
product lines. Some of these companies have substantially greater sales and assets than Spartech, and Spartech also competes
with many smaller companies. The number of our competitors varies by product line, and we believe that Spartech has a
market leadership position in many of these product lines.

Seasonality

Our sales are seasonal in nature. Fewer orders are placed and less manufacturing activity occurs during the November
through January period. This seasonal variation tends to track the manufacturing activities of our varicus customers in
each region.

Environment

Our operations are subject to extensive environmental, health and safety laws and regulations at the national, state and
local governmental levels. The nature of the Company’s business exposes it to risks of liability under these laws and
regulations due to the production, storage, transportation, recycling or disposal and/or sale of materials that can cause
contamination or personal injury if they are released into the environment or workplace, Compliance with laws regulating the
discharge of materials into the environment or otherwise relating to the protection of the environment has not had a material
effect upon the Company’s capital expenditures, earnings or competitive position. It is not anticipated that we will have
material capital expenditures for environmental control facilities during the next year. For additional information regarding
risks due to regulations relating to the protection of the environment as well as our participation in the Lower Passaic River
environmental study, see Item [A.

Employees

Spartech had approximately 3,150 employees at the end of 2008 and management believes that the Company’s employee
relations are favorable. Some of the Company’s employees are represented under collective bargaining agreements, but none
of these agreements are considered significant.

Geographic Areas

We operate in 38 manufacturing facilities in North America and one in Europe. Information regarding our operations in
various geographic segments is discussed in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements. Our Canadian, French and
Mexican operations may be affected periodically by foreign political and economic developments, laws and regulations, and
currency fluctuations.

During 2008, the Company announced its financial improvement plan including our manufacturing cost optimization and
margin enhancement initiatives. A framework for a strategic assessment was established and a roadmap was created for
improving the Company’s performance for enhanced short-term results and long-term sustainable profit growth. The strategic
review included the development of comprehensive portfolio plans, organizational restructuring plans, manufacturing cost
reduction plans, and other financial turnaround initiatives. As part of these initiatives, we announced two plant consolidations
in 2008 which were completed in our fourth quarter: Mankato, Minnesota and St. Clair, Michigan.

Available Information

We provide information without charge about our business, including news releases and other supplemental information,
on our Web site. Our Web site address is www.spartech.com. In addition, we make available through our Web site, free of
charge, our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments to
those reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after they have been filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC™) pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Forms 3, 4 and 5 filed with
respect to our equity securities under Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act are also available as soon as reasonably
practicable after they have been filed with or furnished to the SEC. All of these materials can be found under the “Investor
Relations™ tab on our Web site. Our Web site also includes the following corporate governance materials, under the “Investor
Relations™ tab in the section, “Corporate Governance”: our Code of Business Conduct & Ethics for Directors, Officers, &
Employees; our Code of Ethics for Chief Executive Officer and Senior Financial Officers; our Corporate Governance
Guidelines; and charters of our Board of Director committees. These materials are also available on paper. Shareholders may
request any of these documents by contacting our principal executive office. Information on our Web site does not constitute
part of this report.

Our principal executive office is located at 120 South Central Avenue, Suite 1700, Clayton, Missouri 63105-1705. OQur
telephone number is (314) 721-4242.



Item 1A, RISK FACTORS

The factors listed below represent our principal risks. These factors may or may not occur and we are not in a position to
express a view on the likelihood of any such factor occurring. Other factors may exist that we do not consider significant
based on information that is currently available or that we are not currently able to anticipate.

General economic conditions and the cyclical nature of our suppliers’ and customers’ businesses could adversely affect our
sales, profitability, operating resuits and cash flows during economic downturns.

General economic conditions and business conditions of our suppliers’ and customers’ industries affect the supply and
demand for our products. The businesses of most of our suppliers and customers can be cyclical in nature and sensitive to
changes in general economic conditions. In addition, political instability may lead to financial and economic instability, which
could lead to deterioration in general global economic conditions. Continued downturns in the businesses that use our
products, including North American automobile manufacturers, would adversely affect our sales. Currently, the North
American automobile industry is characterized by significant overcapacity, fierce competition and declining sales. Continued
downturns in general economic conditions may result in diminished product demand, excess manufacturing capacity and lower
profit margins and could adversely affect our sales, operating results, cash flows and financial condition. Additionally, the loss
of several significant customers could adversely impact our operating results, cash flows and financial condition.

We are subject to a number of restrictive covenants in our credit facilities; breaches of these covenants are events of default
under our credit facilities and cause the acceleration of the majority of debt beyond our ability to pay.

Our credit facilities contain a number of restrictive covenants, as described in more detail in Note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements. These covenants require us to, among other matters, restrict the incurrence of additional indebtedness,
satisfy certain ratios and net worth levels, limit the amount of our capital expenditures and dividends, and limit the sale of
assets and merger transactions. If breached, these restrictive covenants would force us to negotiate with our bankers to waive
the covenants and, if denied, could significantly impact our ability to operate our business. In addition, those covenants could
limit our flexibility in making investments and acquisitions.

Access to funding through capital markets is an important part of our business plan, and if we are unable to maintain such
access, we could experience a material adverse effect on our business and financial results.

Our ability to invest in our businesses, make strategic acquisitions and refinance maturing debt obligations requires access
to the capital markets and sufficient bank credit lines to support short-term borrowing needs, The capital markets are currently
experiencing a period of dislocation and instability as evidenced by a lack of liquidity in the debt capital markets, significant
write-offs in the financial services sector, the re-pricing of credit risk in the broadly syndicated credit market and the failure of
certain major financial institutions. Despite actions of the U.S. federal government, these events have contributed to worsening
general economic conditions that are materially and adversely impacting the broader financial and credit markets and reducing
the availability of debt and equity capital for the market as a whole. Reflecting the concern about the stability of the financial
markets generally and the strength of counterparties, many lenders and institutional investors have reduced, and in some cases
ceased to provide, funding to borrowers. The resulting lack of available credit, lack of confidence in the financial sector,
increased volatility in the financial markets and reduced business activity could materially and adversely affect our business,
financial condition, results of operations and our ability to obtain and manage our liquidity.

Price increases in raw materials and energy costs could adversely affect operating results and financial condition.

In 2008, raw material costs represented 74% of total costs of sales. We purchase various raw material resins derived from
crude oil or natural gas to produce our products. The cost of these resins has been highly volatile in the last few years with
significant price increases. This volatility of resin costs is expected to continue and may be affected by a number of factors
including the base cost of oil and natural gas, political instability or hostilities in oil-producing countries, vendor
consolidations, exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and other currencies and changes in supply and demand. The direction
and degree of future resin cost changes and our ability to manage such changes is uncertain. As a result, quick changes is
prices and ultimate higher crude oil and natural gas costs could lead to declining margins, operating results, cash flows and
financial condition.

We may incur significant charges or be adversely impacted by the closure of all or part of a manufacturing facility.

We periodically assess the cost structure of our manufacturing facilities to manufacture and sell our products in the most
efficient manner. Based on our assessments, we may make capital investments to move, discontinue manufacturing
capabilities, or close ail or part of a manufacturing facility. These changes could result in significant future charges or
disruptions in our operations, and we may not achieve the expected benefits from these investments which could result in an
adverse impact on our operating results, cash flows and financial condition.



We operate in a highly competitive marketplace, which could adversely affect our sales and financial condition.

We compete on the basis of quality, price, product availability and security of supply, product development and customer
service. Some competitors are larger than we are in certain markets and may have greater financial resources that allow them
to be better positioned to withstand changes in our industry. Our competitors may introduce new products based on alternative
technologies that may be more competitive causing us to lose customers which would result in a decline in our sales volume
and earnings. Our customers demand high quality and low cost products and services. The cost and availability of energy and
strategic raw materials may continue to deteriorate domestically while improving in the international market. Given the global
marketplace in which we compete, competition could cause us to lose market share, exit certain lines of business, increase
expenditures or reduce pricing, each of which could have an adverse effect on our results of operations, cash flows and
financial condition.

We have a significant amount of goodwill, other intangibles, and fixed assets and any future asset impairment charges
could adversely impact our results of operations.

During the fourth quarter of 2008, we recorded $254 million of goodwill, other intangible and fixed asset impairments in
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (“SFAS”)} 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (“SFAS
142") and SFAS 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (“SFAS 144™). In addition to our
annual goodwill impairment test, the occurrence of a potential indicator of impairment, such as a significant adverse change in
business climate, unanticipated competition, loss of key personnel, or a more-likely-than-not expectation that an asset or
reporting unit may be sold or disposed of, would require us to perform future impairment analyses as required under SFAS 142
and SFAS 144. These types of events and the resulting analysis could result in additional impairments of goodwill, other
intangibles and fixed assets which could adversely impact our results of operations.

We are in the process of implementing a new Oracle/Business Process Improvement enterprise resource planning (“ERP”)
computer system which could cause substantial business interruption that could adversely impact our operating results.

We are implementing a new ERP system and investing significant financial and personnel resources into this project.
However, there is no assurance that the design will meet our current and future business needs or that it will operate as
designed. We are heavily dependent on such computer systems, and any significant failure or delay in the system
implementation, if encountered, would cause a substantial interruption to our business and additional expense which could
result in an adverse impact on our operating resuits, cash flows and financial condition,

We may encounter difficulties in integrating businesses we have acquired, and therefore we may not realize the anticipated
benefits of the acquisitions.

In the past several years, we have made strategic acquisitions intended to complement or expand our business, and may
continue to do so in the future. The success of these transactions will depend on our ability to integrate assets and personnel
acquired in these transactions. We may encounter difficulties in integrating acquisitions with our operations, and in managing
strategic investments. Furthermore, we may not realize the degree or timing of benefits we anticipated when we first enter into
a transaction. Any of the foregoing could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Our foreign operations subject us to economic risk as our results of operations may be adversely affected by foreign
currency fluctuations and changes in local government regulations and policies.

We sell, manufacture and purchase products in foreign markets as well as hold assets and liabilities in these jurisdictions.
Changes in the relative value of foreign currencies to U.S. dollars to which we are exposed, specifically the Euro, Canadian
dollar and Mexican peso, occur from time to time and could have an adverse impact on our operating results and the book
value of our net assets within these jurisdictions.

We are part of an environmental investigation initiated by the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection and the
USEPA in 2003, and if our liability is materially different from the amount accrued, it could impact our results of
operations.

We operate under various laws and reguiations governing employee safety and the quantities of specified substances that
may be emitted into the air, discharged into waterways, or otherwise disposed of on and off our properties. In September 2003,
the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection issued a directive and the United States Environmental Protection
Agency (“USEPA™) initiated an investigation related to over 70 companies, including one of our subsidiaries, regarding the
Lower Passaic River. The subsidiary subsequently agreed to participate in a group of over 40 companies in funding an
environmental study by the USEPA to determine the extent and source of contamination at this site. In 2006, the USEPA
asked the group to assume the responsibility for completing the study. As of November 1, 2008, we had $0.5 million accrued
related to our share of the funding and related legal expenses of the study. We expect the group’s commitment to continue
over the next five years, the expected timeframe of the study. Due to uncertainties inherent in this matter, we are unable to
estimate our potential exposure, including possible remediation or other environmenta! responsibilities that may result from




this matter which is not expected to occur for a number of years. These uncertainties primarily include the completion and
outcome of the environmental study and the percentage of contamination attributable to the subsidiary and other parties. It is
possible that our ultimate liability resulting from this issue could materially differ from the November 1, 2008 accrual balance.
In the event of one or more adverse determinations related to this issue, the impact on our results of operations could be
material to any specific period.

Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
Item 2. PROPERTIES

We operate in 39 manufacturing facilities located in the United States, Canada, France and Mexico, with 17 facilities in the
Custom Sheet and Rollstock segment, five in the Packaging Technologies segment, 11 facilities in the Color and Specialty
Compounds segment and six facilities in the Engineered Products group. Our manufacturing locations are owned or occupied
under operating or capital leases. Additional information regarding our operations within the various geographic segments is
discussed in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements. In addition, we lease office facilities for our corporate
headquarters in St. Louis, Missouri and administrative offices in Washington, Pennsylvania.

Use of our manufacturing facilities may vary with seasonal, economic and other business conditions. We believe that our
present facilities are sufficient and adequate for the manufacture and distribution of Spartech’s products and generally have
sufficient capacity for existing needs and expected near-term growth.

Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In addition to the Lower Passaic River matter described in Item 1A, we are subject to various other claims, lawsuits and
administrative proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business with respect to environmental, commercial, product
liability, employment and other matters, several of which claim substantial amounts of damages. While it is not possible for us
1o estimate with certainty the ultimate legal and financial liability with respect to these claims, lawsuits and administrative
proceedings, we believe that the outcome of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on our capital expenditures,
financial position or competitive position.

Item 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of the Company's security holders during the fourth quarter of 2008.




PART 11

Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Spartech Corporation’s common stock is listed for trading on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbol
“SEH”. There were approximately 1,250 shareholders of record at January 9, 2009. The following table sets forth the high
and low prices of the common stock and cash dividends per common share for each quarter of 2008 and 2007:

Common Stock Data (per share) 1" Otr. _2"otr. 3" Qtr. 4" Otr,
2008
Highioooeoeeereveccccecieciveeeeees. 8 1635 § 1643 § 11.89 § 14.51
LOW e 9.90 7.51 8.27 434
Dividends declared........cccoceevnnnan, $ A35 % 35 % 05 3 05
2007
High. oo cecansenncsnisesascnssssases b 30.71 $ 3054 % 2875 % 2281
LOW oo 24.57 25.06 2094 14.41
Dividends declared.......ccc.ccovvvveee. $ 35 % JA35 % 35 % 135

As discussed in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company amended its revolving credit agreement, its
2006 Senior Notes, its 2004 Senior Notes and its Euro bank term loan. Under the amendments, the Company is restricted from
paying dividends in excess of $1,650 per quarter effective September 10, 2008. The Company’s Board of Directors
pertodically reviews the dividend policy based upon the Company’s financial results and cash flow projections.

There were no purchases of equity securities during the fourth quarter of 2008 and no further repurchases are allowed
under our amended debt agreements discussed in further detail in Item 7 and in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected financial and other data below presents consolidated financial information of Spartech Corporation and
subsidiaries for the last five years and has been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements, except as otherwise
noted. Our operating history includes significant acquisitions. The selected financial data should be read in conjunction with
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and our consolidated financial
statements and the notes thereto,

Year Ended

2008 (2) 2007 (a) 2006 2005 2004 (a)
(in thousands, except per share, per pound, and employee data)

Statement of Operations Data:

Net Sales:
[n Dolars.......ccooevrieeveeeceneniconans $1,398,893 $1,451,983 $1,485597 $1,396,860 $1,121,725
In Volume (pounds) (b).............. 1,236,000 1,436,000 1,460,000 1,472,000 1,383,000
Gross Margin () .oceecovreveniirireneecens $ 125878 $ 163,581 $ 176,537 $ 153,477 § 155947
Depreciation and Amortization ....... 47,201 43,069 40,698 39,380 33,704
Operating Earnings (Loss) (d}......... (228,332) 72,439 91,424 57,869 90,854
Interest EXpense .......ccccvvervnisvernnes 20,574 17,629 20,981 25,195 25,436
Net Eamnings (Loss) (d) (€)oo (192,112) 33,846 38,798 18,263 40,857
Per Share Information:
Earnings (Loss) per Share-Diluted .. $ 6.35) $ 105 § 120 % 57 8 1.28
Dividends Declared per Share......... 37 54 .50 A48 A4
Book Value per Share(b)................. 742 14.37 13.78 12.93 12.81
Balance Sheet Data:
Working Capital (f) .......oooovniiirennns $ 99224 $ 131,835 $ 136,544 $ 171,459 § 198233
Working Capital as a percentage
of Net Sales (b) -orvi e, 7.1% 9.1 % 92 % 12.3% 17. 7%
Total Debt.....ovvveeerreecreeevnee e $ 274654 $ 334283 § 289,223 § 379,955 3 474,091
Total ASSELS ..oooveeerereenrierirrrrnnarne e 762,419 1,110,871 1,041,794 1,071,826 1,133,284
Shareholders’ EQUity ........ccovevnnans 226,790 439280 442,693 413,760 412,374
Ratios/Other Data:
Cash Flow from Operations............. $ 96612 $ 104011 $ 127543 $ 105018 § 31,647
Capital Expenditures ..........coccovvenene 17,276 34,743 23,966 39,265 35,003
Operating Earnings (Loss)
per pound sold (b)...ccvrvrvcncinns (18.5) ¢ 50¢ 63¢ 39¢ 66¢
Total Debt to
Total Debt and Equity (b)........... 54.8% 43.2 % 319.5% 47.9 % 53.5%
Number of Employees (b) ............... 3,150 3,600 3,425 3,500 3,750
Common Shares:
Outstanding at Year-End ............ 30,564 30,565 32,124 31,988 32,180
Weighted Average-Diluted......... 30,264 32,180 32,297 32,311 33,468

Notes to table:

(a) Our fiscal year ends on the Saturday closest to October 31. Because of this convention, every fifth or sixth fiscal year has an additional week, and 2007
was reported as a 53-week year. On September 14, 2007, the Company acquired Creative Forming, Inc., {"Creative”) based in Ripon, Wisconsin. See
Note 2 to the consclidated financial statements for further details on this acquisition. On October 1, 2004, the Company acquired three divisions of VP
based in Sheboygan, Wisconsin.

{b) Amounts are unaudited.

(c) Calculated as net sales less cost of sales. Gross margin excludes the impact of amortization expense.

(d) 2008 operating loss and net loss were impacted by charges of $256.5 million ($199.0 million net of tax} relating to goodwill impainnents of
$238.6 million ($185.2 million net of tax), fixed asset and other intangible asset impairments of $15.5 million ($12.3 million net of tax), and restructuring
and exit costs of $2.3 millicn (51.5 million net of tax). 2007 operating eamings and net earnings were impacted by charges of $4.7 million (32.9 million
net of tax) relating (o & separation agreement with our former Chief Executive Officer of $1.9 million ($1.1 million net of tax), an intangible asset
impairment of $1.6 million ($1.0 million net of 1ax) and restructuring and exit costs of $1.3 million ($0.8 million net of tax). 2006 operating earnings and
net earnings were reduced by charges of $5.0 million (34.3 million net of tax} related to restructuring and exit costs of $1.9 million ($1.2 million net of
tax) and goodwill impairment of $3.2 million ($3.2 million net of tax). 2005 operating eamnings and net camnings were reduced by charges of
$20.1 million ($14.0 million net of tax) related to restructuring and exit costs of $10.1 million (36.6 million net of tax), o retirement settlement with our
former Chief Executive Officer of $3.6 million ($2.3 million net of tax), fixed asset charges of $1.9 million ($1.2 million net of tax) and goodwill
impairment of $4.5 million ($4.0 million net of tax). 2004 operating earnings and net eamings were reduced by fixed asset charges of $3.5 million
{$2.2 million net of tax}.

{e) 2006 net earnings were reduced by a $5.5 million ($3.4 million net of tax) charge related to the early extinguishment of our convertible subordinated
debentures.

(f) Calculated as total current assets excluding cash and cash equivalents less total current liabilities excluding current maturities of long-term debt.
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations contains “forward-looking
statements. " You should read the following discussion of our financial condition and resuits of operations with “Selected
Financial Data” and our consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto. We have based our forward-looking
statements about our markets and demand for our products and future results on assumptions that we consider reasonable.
Actual results may differ materially from those suggested by our forward-looking statements for various reasons including
those discussed in "Cautionary Statements Concerning Forward-Looking Statements” and lem 1A.

Business Overview

Spartech is an intermediary processor of engineered thermoplastics which converts base polymers or resins purchased
from commodity suppliers into extruded plastic sheet and rollstock, thermoformed packaging, specialty film laminates, acrylic
products, specialty plastic alloys, color concentrates and blended resin compounds, and injection molded and profile extruded
products for customers in a wide range of markets. We have facilities located throughout the United States, Canada, Mexico
and Europe that are organized into three segments and one group as follows:

. % of
2008 Sales
Custom Sheet and Rollstock ............. 45
Packaging Technologies ................... 20
Cotlor and Specialty Compounds ...... 30
Engineered Products .........cccccccvnnnne 5

We assess net sales changes using three major drivers: underlying volume, the impact of business acquisitions or
divestitures and price/mix. Underlying volume is calculated as the change in pounds sold exclusive of the impact on pounds
sold from business acquisitions or divestitures and for a comparable number of days in the reporting period. Our fiscal year
ends on the Saturday closest to October 31 and our fiscal year generally contains 52 weeks or 364 calendar days. Because of
this convention, every fifth or sixth fiscal year has an additional week and fiscal 2007 was reported as a 53-week fiscal year
containing 371 days of activity. The additional week was reported in the first quarter of fiscal 2007.

Executive Summary

Our loss in 2008 was significantly impacted by $238.6 million of non-cash goodwill impairments, $15.5 million of asset
impairments, and $2.3 million of restructuring and exit costs. Excluding the impact of asset impairments and restructuring and exit
costs, our operating earnings of $28.1 million in 2008 were $47.1 million lower than the prior year. This decrease was primarily
caused by a significant decline in our sales volumes from weak end market demand. Most of our sales volume declines occurred in
our end markets which are more sensitive to discretionary spending including the transportation and recreation and leisure markets,
and residential sector of the building and construction market. Our 2008 earnings were also adversely impacted by significant
increases in resin costs which were not passed to customers as higher selling ptices in a timely manner, particularly in the earlier
portion of 2008, The adverse impacts of our lower sales volume and resin increases were offset somewhat by the positive impact
from our tumaround initiatives including our manufacturing cost optimization and margin enhancement initiatives. Our
manufacturing cost optimization initiative includes our labor reduction efforts and plant consolidations. Our margin enhancement
initiative is comprised of activitics associated with improving margins on unprofitable customers, improving our commercial
practices to reflect changes in resin costs in customer selling prices in a timely manner and consolidation of our procurement function.
We earned higher gross margins per pound sold ir the later portions of 2008 because of the positive impact of these initiatives.

Cur cash flow performance in 2008 was solid despite our earnings decline. We generated $96.6 million in cash flow from
operations in 2008 which included $37.6 million from reductions in working capital balances. We used this cash flow to invest
$17.3 million in capital expenditures, pay down debt of $57.2 million, pay dividends of $13.9 million and acquire net treasury
stock of $6.9 million.

Outlook

We expect a turbulent economy for the foreseeable future and we have undertaken several actions to address this
environment. Our operating plans assume the global economic recession will continue through 2009 and that end market
demand will remain weak through this period. We believe our aggressive cost reduction actions and financial discipline will
enable us to effectively manage through the chaltenging economy. We expect to emerge from this environment a stronger and
better positioned Company to support future long-term profitable growth.
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Results of Operations

Comparison of 2008 and 2007

Consolidated Summary
Net sales were $1,398.9 million and $1,452.0 million in 2008 and 2007, respectively, representing a 4% decrease in 2008.

The decrease was caused by:

Underlying volume .......c.ooveeeiens (13)%
Prior year additional week........... (2)
Creative acquisition .................... 3
Price/MiX ....ccoovvrreemecemicssiensininns _ 8
%

Our underlying volume decreased 191 million pounds, or 13%, because of lower end market demand and decreases in
discretionary spending in the economy. Of the 191 million pounds decrease, 61% occurred in the transportation and recreation
and leisure markets. Our volume sold to the transportation market declined 25% from the prior year due mostly to lower
volumes to the automotive sector. Volume sold to the recreation and leisure market was lower by 20%, reflecting decreases in
sales to recreational vehicles, pools, spas and marine sectors of this market. Most of the remaining 39% of our underlying
volume decrease occurred in the packaging market which declined 10% from the prior year and our building and construction
market which was lower by 6% from the prior year. The decrease in the packaging market was caused by lower purchases in the
industrial and food packaging sectors of this market, and the decrease in the building and construction market reflected lower
sales to the residential sector which were partially offset by an increase in volume sold to the commercial sector of this market.

The decrease in volume from the additional week reflects 53 weeks of sales activity in 2007 compared to 52 weeks in
2008. The increase from the Creative acquisition represents the full-year impact of sales dollars from this acquisition which
occurred in September 2007. Our sales comparison benefited from price/mix due mostly to increases in sales dollars from the
pass-through of resin cost increases.

The following table presents net sales, components of cost of sales, and the resulting gross margin in dollars and on a per
pound sold basis for 2008 and 2007. Cost of sales presented in the consolidated statements of operations includes material and
conversion costs and excludes amortization of intangible assets. The material and conversion cost components of cost of sales
are presented in the following table. We have not presented these components as a percentage of net sales because a comparison
of this measure is distorted by changes in resin costs that are typically passed through to customers as changes to selling prices.
These changes can materially affect the percentages but do not present complete performance measures of the business.

2008 2007
Dollars and Pounds (in millions)
IEE SAIES oorrieeeeeeeeeeeeeettesraeesssine e st esbns s se e s ressassars e b n T s b e e e s e e nnaba s aRE e e reas $ 1,398.9 $ 1,452.0
MALETIA] COSESuernenreenrens it irernrereeeraserseerraneeresee st sasssssaa s ers s asaan e sm e st s senrnsasnas 948.2 952.1
Material MAZIN -..ccoviiriimimimiirr e st 450.7 499.9
CONVELSION COSIS...uvierirresiisreessrsrerseesirssrssroceooermbasteabs s tesasasssasarssacssasesbssanassns 324.8 3363
GIOSS IATZIN .v1vveeecesenerereeecererreseeseassaecsressessa s sssasnsas s st esbssasssase § 1259 $ 1636
Pounds SOl ..ot s 1,236 1436
Dollars per Pound Sold
INEE SAIES vttt ereetesesrrses st s g es e e e ene e braes s ear s e ne e et e e sean e ks E R nan s $§ 1132 $ 1011
IMALETIAL COSS...oveerirereeeeeeeciiieresbe s s e st e b e shsabasaasarmr e sag e s b b s 0.767 0.663
Material MArZIN ..ovecicie s s 0.365 0.348
CONVETSION COSS....oeiviiarrrrrrererertsrsisinessnisssssansranarassrssssssstasasssnsssnsssntssnssananns 0.263 0.234
GTOSS MATEII 1.vveuiirisiesecereestas i e e easaes $ 0402 3 0114

The increases in net sales and material costs per pound in 2008 were caused by significant increases in our resin costs
during the year which we passed along to customers as higher selling prices. The 1.7 cent per pound increase in material
margin reflects sales mix changes and the positive impact of our margin enhancement initiative. Our conversion costs per
pound increased 2.9 cents because of the decrease in sales volume. Excluding the Creative acquisition, our conversion cost
dollars decreased 7% due to the volume decline and the impact of our manufacturing cost optimization initiative on reducing
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our labor-related costs. Labor-related costs represent approximately half of our total conversion costs, and this initiative
resulted in approximately $15 million of lower labor costs in 2008. We expect another $10 million of lower labor costs in
2009 compared to 2008 due to the full year impact of our initiative.

Selling, general and administrative expenses were $92.6 million in 2008, representing an $8.7 million increase over the prior
year. The increase was caused by the full-year impact of our Creative acquisition, higher information technology expenses to
support our company-wide Oracte information system implementation, higher professional fees to support our turnaround
initiatives and higher bad debts expense, the impacts of which were partially offset by the extra week and a charge associated
with the resignation of the Company’s former President and Chief Executive Officer, both of which occurred in 2007.

Amortization of intangibies was $5.2 million in 2008 compared to $4.5 million in 2007. The increase was due to the prior
year Creative acquisition. We estimate a decrease to $4.5 million of amortization in 2009, which reflects the impact of our
current year asset impairments and certain assets that became fully amortized in 2008.

The $238.6 million of goodwill impairments and $15.5 million of fixed asset and other intangible asset impairments in
2008 reflect non-cash charges which were incurred in our Custom Sheet and Rollstock, Color and Specialty Compounds and
Engineered Products business segments and group. Additional details regarding these impairment charges are discussed in
Notes 4 and 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

Restructuring and exit costs were $2.3 million in 2008 and $1.3 million in 2007. The 2008 costs are mostly comprised of
employee severance, equipment moving expenses and accelerated depreciation resulting from the Company’s manufacturing
cost optimization initiative. For announced restructuring initiatives as of November 1, 2008, the Company expects to incur
approximately $1.8 million of additional restructuring costs, primarily cash-related equipment moving and installation
expenses. The 2007 costs primarily represent employee severance, equipment moving expenses and accelerated depreciation
associated with the shut-down of three former sheet production facilities and the movement of the business into the Company’s
newly constructed facility in Greenville, Chio.

The Company reported a $228.3 million operating loss in 2008 which compared to $72.4 million of operating income in 2007.
The $300.8 million decrease reflected the $238.6 million goodwill impairment in 2008, the $14.0 million increase in fixed asset and
other intangible asset impairments and $1.1 million increase in restructuring and exit costs. The remaining $47.1 million decrease was
caused by the decline in sales volume which was mitigated somewhat by higher material margins and reductions in conversion costs.

Interest expense, net was $20.6 million in 2008 and $17.6 miilion in 2007. The higher expense in 2008 was due to the increase
in debt to fund the Creative acquisition and stock repurchases during the fourth quarter of 2007 and the first quarter of 2008.

Our effective tax rate in 2008 was impacted by the significant goodwill impairments, some of which were not tax
deductible. Excluding the goodwill impairments, our effective tax rate was 32% in 2008 which compared to 38% in 2007. Qur
2008 effective tax rate was positively impacted by domestic state and foreign tax law changes in the first quarter of 2008. We
estimate our 2009 tax rate to be in the approximate range of 38% to 39%.

We reported a net loss of $192.1 million in 2008 and net earnings of $33.8 million in 2007. These amounts reflect the
impact of the items previously discussed.

Custom Sheet and Rollstock Segment
Net sales were $637.1 million and $674.8 million in 2008 and 2007, respectively, representing a 6% decrease in 2008,
This decrease was caused by:

Underlying volume............cco....... (12)%

Prior year additional week.......... (2)

Price/MiX ..o, __ 8
(6)%

Most of our underlying volume decrease in this segment occurred in the transportation, recreation and leisure and building
and construction markets. Volume sold to the transportation market decreased 22% and occurred within the automotive and
heavy truck sectors of this market. The segment’s volume to the recreation and leisure market was lower by 22% reflecting
lower sales of recreational vehicles, spas, pools and marine products. We experienced an 18% decline in volume to the
building and construction market from decreases in sales of residential construction-related products. The price/mix benefit
was mostly from sales dollar increases from the pass-through of resin cost increases.




This segment reported an operating loss of $100.1 million in 2008 and operating income of $44.2 million in 2007. This
comparison reflects $119.2 million of asset impairments in 2008. The remaining $25.1 million decrease in operating earnings was
caused by the lower volume and lower material margins in the early portion of 2008 because of a significant increase in resin costs
that were not passed along to customers in a timely manner. These adverse factors were partially offset by lower costs from our
manufacturing cost optimization initiative and higher margins from our margin enhancement initiative in the later portion of 2008.

Packaging Technologies Segment
Net sales were $274.4 million and $253.7 million in 2008 and 2007, respectively, representing an 8% increase in 2008.

This increase was caused by:

Underlying volume.............oo.... (8)%
Prior year additional week.......... )
Creative acquisition........cccosee.e.. 13
Price/MiX..ooooooeeeeeecinne e _ 5
— 8%

The decrease in underlying volume reflected a 7% decline to packaging-related markets, which represent approximately
three-fourths of this segment’s total sales, and a 13% decline in the remaining portion of this segment sold to non-packaging
related markets. Our Creative acquisition provided additional sales of $34.1 million in 2008 versus 2007. The price/mix
benefit was mostly from sales dollar increases from the pass-through of resin cost increases.

Operating earnings were $18.8 million in 2008 compared to $26.1 million in 2007. This decrease was caused by the
decline in volume and lower underlying material margins from significant increases in resin costs in 2008 that were not passed
along to customers in a timely manner due largely to indexed pricing arrangements. These factors were partially offset by
additional earnings contributed from Creative and benefits from our manufacturing cost optimization initiative.

Color and Specialty Compounds Segment
Net sales were $414.0 million and $446.8 million in 2008 and 2007, respectively, representing a 7% decrease in 2008.

This decrease was caused by:

Underlying volume .........ccocoivnene (16)%

Prior year additional week........... (2)

Price/MIX ..c.ooomvvneenrereeremraeneeeeeees 1
(%

Approximately three-fourths of the sales volume decline in this segment occurred from lower sales of compounds to the
automotive market and industrial packaging market. These sectors of our end markets represented about half of this segment’s
sales volume and were lower by 27% and 23% for automotive and industrial packaging, respectively, from 2007. These losses
were somewhat mitigated by an increase in volumes sold to the commercial construction market. The price/mix benefit was
mostly from sales dollar increases from the pass-through of resin cost increases.

This segment reported an operating loss of $98.0 million in 2008 and operating income of $23.1 million in 2007. This
comparison reflects $112.7 million of asset impairments in 2008. The remaining $8.4 million decrease in operating eamings
was caused by the lower volume which was offset somewhat by higher material margins from improved mix and our margin
enhancement initiative and lower costs from our manufacturing cost optimization initiative.

Engineered Products Group
Net sales were $73.4 million and $76.7 million in 2008 and 2007, respectively, representing a 4% sales decrease in 2008.

This decrease was caused by:

Underlying volume ...........ooewun (5)%

Prior year additional week.......... 2)

Price/MiX ...coviererorveeeeeinrereereeensenns 3
(4)%

The underlying volume decline in this group was primarily caused by lower sales of lawn mower wheels due to decreases
in discretionary spending in the economy. The price/mix benefit mostly resulted from sales dollar increases from the pass-
through of resin cost increases.

This group reported a $13.3 million operating loss in 2008 versus $9.6 million of operating income in 2007, Of the
$22.9 million decrease, $21.6 million was caused by 2008 asset impairments. The remaining $1.3 million resulted from the
lower volume of lawn mower wheels sold.
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Corporate
Corporate expenses are reported as selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of

operations and include corporate office expenses, information technology costs, professional fees and the impact of foreign
currency exchange. Corporate expenses were $35.8 million in 2008 compared to $30.6 million in the prior year. Corporate
expenses increased in 2008 from higher depreciation expense, information technology related costs associated with our
company-wide Oracle information system implementation and higher professional fees to support our turnaround initiatives.

Comparison of 2007 and 2006

Consolidated Summary
Net sales were $1,452.0 million and $1,485.6 million for the years ended 2007 and 2006, respectively, representing a 2%

decrease in 2007. The causes of this percentage decrease were as follows:

Underlying volume...........c.coo..... (4)%
Volume from additional week .... 2
Acquisition of business............... —
Price/MiX ....ccoovnermnniiicciccsivsner. _—
2%

The decrease in underlying volume was caused by lower sales of compounds to the automotive sector of the transportation
market, color concentrates to the packaging market and lower sales of sheet to the recreation and leisure market, the residential
sector of the building and construction market and the heavy truck and automotive sectors of the transportation market. These
declines were partially offset by increases in sales of thermoformed product to the packaging market, sheet to the refrigeration
sector of the appliance and electronics market and compounds to the commercial building and construction market.
Disruptions from the Greenville sheet consolidation also contributed to the decline in sales volume during 2007. Sales volume
from the additional week reflects 53 weeks of sales activity in 2007 compared 1o 52 weeks in 2006. The price/mix impact was
flat, reflecting a benefit from an increase in sales mix of thermoformed product offset by the impact from lower average resin
costs in 2007 versus 2006 which were passed through to customers as lower selling prices.

The following table presents sales, components of cost of sales, and the resulting gross margin in dollars and on a per pound
sold basis for 2007 and 2006. Cost of sales presented in the consolidated statements of operations includes material and
conversion costs and excludes amortization of intangible assets. The material and conversion cost components of cost of sales
are presented in the following table. We have not presented these components as a percentage of net sales because a comparison
of this measure is distorted by changes in resin costs that are typically passed through to customers as changes to selling prices.
These changes can materially affect the percentages but do not present complete performance measures of the business.

2007 2006
Dollars and Pounds {in millions)
INELSAIES Lottt er st et eressareneer st seeansnemtsenana st ennneernrnaens $ 1,4520 § 1,4856
MALELIAL COBES....cvrereereseciitiier sttt ate ettt ee st e e bt e aa e st se e e e sinees 952.1 968.3
Material MAZIn .....co..ecereiiiicie et emrs e e er st reraensne s 499.9 517.3
CONVEISION COBLS....evvivrenearsreieeiersieeseeretessseassreseesesrertsaseessssesasasesrentessesnrres 336.3 340.8
GIOSS MATEIN ...oviveeeeciiiic e st ese s ssese e nrer s 5 1636 £ 1765
Pounds SoM.......oiiiiece e s ee e r e 1,436 1,460
Dollars per Pound Sold
NEESALES .ovvvvieccieierrurere s rerieaeaeesire s sa s e ea bt ebeteenevebs e eessses s an s enras et $ 1011 5 1017
MBEEIIA COSES. ... .o cceciteiicie ettt e et sttt te e s st esaerenbe e s varsrmens 0.663 0.663
Material MArGIN .....ooeeiieeeeees et ere st sae e seaeeaeae s 0.348 0.354
COMNVEISION COBIS...eerurrriririeiiirieeesrereesereeestersse b e msssreresetessbessb e s eneasasanseessoane 0.234 0.233
GOS8 MATRIN 11..ccieieieiiriss e serensem sttt n s s raseenene b s s rsnssansaseens $ 0114 § 01421

Material margin and gross margin per pound sold decreased primarily because of higher resin cosis in the second half of
2007 which we were not able to fully pass on to customers as higher selling prices due to a soft demand environment.
Conversion costs per pound sold during 2007 increased slightly from 2006 due to an increase in per pound labor-related
expenses and higher depreciation expense partially offset by a shift in mix of sales to lower cost plants and reductions in
freight, repairs and maintenance and packaging expenses per pound sold.
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Selling, general and administrative expenses were $83.8 million in 2007, representing an $8.5 million increase over 2006. The
2007 expenses include a $1.9 miltion charge associated with the resignation of the Company’s former President and Chief Executive
Officer in the third quarter of 2007, a $2.8 million foreign currency net loss due to a weaker U.S. dollar during 2007 and $0.4 million
of selling, general and administrative expenses reported in our Creative business. In our fourth quarter of 2007, we restructured our
US. dollar investment previously held by our Canadian operations which will mitigate the majority of our consolidated foreign
currency exposure that caused the net currency losses in 2007. Excluding these factors, selling, general and administrative expenses
increased $3.6 million in 2007 due primarily to a $2.5 million increase in information technology-related costs, including depreciation
expense, associated with our company-wide Oracle information system implementation, higher professional fees and the impact from

the inclusion of an additional week during 2007, all of which were partially offset by lower incentive compensation expenses.

In the first quarter of 2006, we adopted SFAS 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment (“SFAS 123(R)”). Prior to the adoption
of SFAS 123(R), we had adopted the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, and no
expense related to stock options was recognized in our results of operations. We implemented SFAS 123(R) using the meodified
prospective transition method, which requires the expensing of stock options upon adoption without restating prior periods. Stock-
based compensation was $2.9 million in 2007, of which $2.6 million was recognized in selling, general and administrative expenses
and $0.3 million was recorded as cost of sales. In 2006, stock-based compensation expense was $2.8 million, of which $2.5 million
was recognized in selling, general and administrative expenses and $0.3 million was recorded as cost of sales.

In October of 2007, Pfizer, Inc. (“Pfizer”), a customer of Creative, announced the exit of its new inhaled insulin product,
Exubera, which resulted in the impairment of a customer-related intangible asset assigned to the Pfizer relationship upon acquisition.

In the fourth quarter of 2006, we recorded a $3.2 million non-cash goodwill impairment charge due to changes in our profiles
business and the reorganization of the operations, management and reporting of this business which led to a redefinition of our
operating segments comprising our Engineered Products group and allocation of goodwill to our new profiles reporting unit. The
fair value of our profiles business did not support the $3.2 million goodwill allocation which resulted in the impairment charge.

Restructuring and exit costs were $1.3 million during 2007 and $1.9 million in 2006 and largely represent employee
severance, equipment moving and accelerated depreciation charges. The 2007 restructuring and exit costs primarily reflect the
expenses associated with the consolidation of three existing Custom Sheet and Rollstock production facilities into one newly
constructed facility in Greenville, Ohio. The 2006 restructuring and exit costs primarily represent the expenses associated with
the consolidation of three Color and Specialty Compounds production facilities into one plant in Donora, Pennsylvania.

Operating earnings for 2007 were $72.4 million compared to $91.4 million in 2006, representing a $19.0 million decrease.
The decrease in operating earnings is largely attributable 1o the $13.0 million decrease in gross margin and the $8.5 million
increase in selling, general, and administrative expenses, partially offset by the reduction in goodwill impairment charges.

Interest expense, net was $17.6 million in 2007 compared to $21.0 million in 2006. The decrease in interest expense was
due to the benefit realized from our focused efforts on debt reduction and the extinguishment of our convertible subordinated
debentures in 2005, partially offset by the increase in debt to fund the Creative acquisition and stock repurchases during the
fourth quarter of 2007. Interest expense also benefited from lower average interest rates during 2007.

In 2006, we completed a $50 million private placement of debt and amended our U.S. unsecured bank credit facility which
increased our borrowing availability from $200 million to $300 million. We used the proceeds from the private placement and
barrowings from our amended credit facility to redeem our $150 million convertible subordinated debentures which resulted in a
$5.5 million charge for early debt extinguishment costs. The $5.5 million early debt extinguishment costs represent $3.8 million
of early-payment premium and $ 1.7 million of non-cash write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs. This redemption eliminated
the potential dilutive effect of a future conversion of the convertible subordinated debentures and reduced our cost of borrowing.

Our effective tax rate was 38.2% in 2007 compared to 40.3% in 2006. The improvement in the effective rate during 2007
is attributable to the impact of the non-deductible goodwill impairment charge in 2006. Excluding the non-deductible portion
of goodwill impairment charge, our effective tax rate was 38.4% in 2006.

We reported net eamings of $33.8 million in 2007 compared to $38.8 million in 2006, These amounts reflect the impact
of the items previously discussed.
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Custom Sheet and Rollstock Segment
Net sales were $674.8 million and $709.1 million for 2007 and 2006, respectively, representing a 5% decrease in 2007.
This decrease was caused by:

Underlying volume..................... 6)%

Volume from additional week .... 2

Price/MiX ...cooooviieieveeeenn, (1)
—)%

The decrease in underlying volume was primarily due to weak demand in the durable goods markets which adversely
impacted our volume sold to the heavy truck, residential construction, automotive, recreational vehicles and pool and spa
sectors of our end markets. These declines were partially offset by increases in sales of material handling sheet to the industrial
packaging industry and sales of sheet from our Mexico facility to the refrigeration sector of the appliance and electronics
market. Two-thirds of the underlying volume decline occurred at our three facilities being consolidated into our newly
constructed Greenville facility. These facilities mostly produce polyethylene-based product for many of the aforementioned
weak markets. The price/mix impact reflects lower average resin costs in 2007 versus 2006 which were passed through to
customers as lower seiling prices and the impact from a lower mix of higher priced sheet, particularly in the heavy truck,
recreation and leisure and pool and spa sectors of our end markets.

This segment’s operating earnings in 2007 were $44.2 million which compared to $54.3 million in 2006. The decrease in
operating eamnings in 2007 was impacted by a $0.9 million increase in restructuring and exit costs associated with the
Greenville consolidation. Excluding the impact of restructuring and exit costs, operating earnings decreased $9.2 million in
2007 over 2006, of which $5.9 million occurred at the three plants impacted by the Greenville consolidation. The reduction in
operating eamnings in 2007 was caused by the decline in sales volume along with a 1.1¢ reduction in gross margin per pound
sold which reflects a 0.7¢ decrease in material margin per pound sold and a 0.4¢ increase in conversion costs per pound sold.
Material margin per pound decreased because of higher resin costs in the second half of the year which we were not able to
fuily pass on to our customers as higher selling prices due to a soft demand environment. The disruption associated with our
Greenville sheet consolidation combined with the significant increase in polyethylene prices in the second half of 2007 also
contributed to the decline in material margin. Despite a benefit received from a shift in sales mix to lower cost plants,
conversion cost per pound sold increased due to a decrease in volume that exceeded our reductions in conversion costs.

Packaging Technologies Segment
Net sales were $253.7 million and $234.0 million in 2007 and 2006, respectively, representing an 8% increase in 2007.
This increase was caused by:

Underlying volume............ R 3%
Volume from additional week.... 2
Acquisition of business............... 2
Price/MiX.....ccocvvnvienne. N |
=8 %

The increase in underlying volume was driven by sales of thermoformed product to the food packaging market. The
Creative acquisition provided additional sales revenue of $6.8 million for post acquisition sales in our fourth quarter of 2007.
The price/mix impact reflects a larger mix of higher priced thermoformed product.

This segment’s operating earnings were $26.1 million in both 2007 and 2006. Operating eamnings in 2007 includes a
$1.6 million impairment charge related to the impairment of the Pfizer customer-related intangible asset acquired with the
Creative business. Excluding this impairment and a benefit from Creative’s operating results. Operating earnings increased
$0.9 million in 2007 over 2006 due to the increase in underlying sales volume.

Color and Specialty Compounds Segment
Net sales were $446.8 million and $463.0 million in 2007 and 2006, respectively, representing a 4% decrease in 2007.
This decrease was caused by:

Underlying volume...................... (4)%
Volume from additional week .... 2
Price/MiX ...cccovmvereererrisneeieveenns {2)




The decrease in underlying volume was caused by lower sales of compounds to the domestic automotive sector of the
transportation market and color concentrates to the packaging market partially offset by an increase in sales of commercial
roofing applications. The decrease in price/mix was largely caused by lower average resin costs in 2007 compared to 2006
which we passed through to customers as lower seiling prices and a reduction in the sales mix of color concentrates which have
a higher than average selling price per pound sold.

Operating eamnings for this segment were $23.1 million in 2007 and $28.3 million in 2006. The decrease in operating
earnings was primarily caused by the decrease in underlying volumes coupled with a 1.0¢ drop in gross margin per pound sold.
The drop in gross margin per pound was caused by rising resin costs in the second half of the year coupled with soft demand
which prevented us from fully passing on the cost increases as higher selling prices, a lower mix of higher margin color
concentrates as well as $3.3 million of inventory adjustments in the fourth quarter of 2007. A portion of the $3.3 million
resulted from the correction of an error identified by our system implementation process and another portion from a decision to
liquidate certain scrap inventory. Operating earnings in 2007 also reflect a $1.5 million decrease in restructuring and exit costs
from the 2006 Donora consolidation.

Engineered Products Group
Net sales were $76.7 million and $79.6 million for 2007 and 2006, respectively, representing a 4% sales decrease in 2007.

This decrease was caused by:

Underlying volume ........cccevveiee — %

Volume from additional week .... 2

Price/MiX ..oooeeiieeennarreemeeenienns {6)
(4)%

The price/mix impact reflects lower average resin costs in 2007 compared to 2006 which we passed through to customers
as lower selling prices and a higher sales mix of wheels which have a lower per pound sales price than the segment average.

This group’s operating earnings in 2007 were $9.6 million compared to $4.5 miltion in 2006. The increase in operating earnings
reflects a $3.2 million write-off of goodwill related to our profile’s business in 2006. Excluding the impact of the 2006 Goodwill
impairment, operating eamings increased $2.0 million which was driven by the profitability jimprovement in our wheels business.

Corporate
Corporate expenses are reported as selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of

operations and include corporate office expenses, information technology costs, professional fees and the impact of foreign
currency exchange. Corporate expenses were $30.6 million in 2007 compared to $21.9 million in 2006, In 2007, corporate
expenses were impacted by the $1.9 million charge from the resignation of our former President and Chief Executive Officer
and a $2.5 million increase in foreign currency losses due to a weakening U.S. dollar. Excluding the impact from these items,
corporate expenses increased $4.4 million in 2007 from higher depreciation expense and information technology-related costs
associated with our company-wide Oracle information system implementation, higher professional fees and the impact from an
additional week of expenses, all of which were partially offset by lower incentive compensation expenses.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash Flow

Our primary sources of liquidity have been cash flows from operating activities and borrowings from third parties. Our
principal uses of cash have been to support our operating activities, invest in capital improvements, reduce outstanding

indebtedness, finance strategic business and outsourcing acquisitions, acquire treasury shares and pay dividends on our common
stock. The following summarizes the major categories of our changes in cash and cash equivalents in 2008, 2007 and 2006:

2008 2007 2006
Cash Flows (in millions)
Net cash provided by operating activities .................. 5 9%6.6 $ 1040 § 127.5
Net cash used for investing activities .........ccocecereeenne (17.5) (96.0) (21.5)
Net cash used for financing activities........cccoeeeiinnne {80.4) (10.0) (105.2)
(Decrease)/Increase in cash and cash equivalents .. § (L3) 3 20 % 0.8

Net cash provided by operating activities was $96.6 million in 2008 compared to $104.0 million in the prior year.
Reductions in net working capital funded $37.6 million and $14.2 million in 2008 and 2007, respectively. Excluding the net
working capital reductions, net cash provided by operating activities was lower by $30.8 million in 2008, reflecting lower
current year earnings. We continued our focus on managing working capital in the current year. Our days sales outstanding,
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inventory turns and days payable outstanding were 49.1, 11.4 and 45.2, respectively, at October 2008 compared to 50.6, 11.1
and 43.3, respectively, at October 2007. The improvements in these metrics led to a reduction in our working capital as a
percentage of trailing-two months of net sales from 8.8% at the end of fiscal 2007 to 7.3% at the end of fiscal 2008,

Our primary investing activity in 2008 was capital expenditures. Capital expenditures are primarily incurred to enhance our
facilities for safety, to improve productivity, and to modemize and expand facilities. Capital expenditures in 2008 were
$17.3 million compared to $34.7 million in 2007. The $17.5 million decrease was largely attributable to the new production facility
in Greenville, Ohio, the expansion of our Mexico operation and additional capital for our information systems implementation spent
in 2007. We expect our 2009 capital expenditures to approximate our 2008 level. We used $62.2 million to fund the Creative
acquisition of which $61.4 million occurred in the fourth quarter of 2007 and the remaining $0.8 mitlion occurred in 2008,

Net cash used for financing activities totaled $80.4 million in 2008 and $10.0 million in 2007. The net cash used for
financing activities during 2008 reflects $57.2 miilion to pay down debt, $13.9 million to fund dividends and $9.7 miliion for
treasury share repurchases. Financing activities in 2008 also included $2.8 million received from our Chairman of the Board to
purchase treasury shares and $2.4 million to pay fees associated with our debt refinancing. In 2007, we borrowed $36.2 million,
paid dividends of $17.0 million and purchased $29.9 million of treasury stock net of cash received on stock option exercises.

Financing Arrangemenis

Effective September 10, 2008, we amended our revolving credit agreement, 2006 Senior Notes, 2004 Senior Notes and Euro
bank term loan. Under the amendments, each facility is now secured with collateral, which includes our accounts receivable,
inventory, machinery and equipment, and intangible assets. Capacity under the revolving credit agreement was reduced from $300
million to $145. This capacity could increase $30 million if we meet certain financial performance metrics, but our capacity will
continue to be permanently reduced annually based on mandatory principal payments resulting from a percentage of excess cash
flow. After the excess cash flow payment in the first quarter of 2009, capacity on our revolving credit facility will be permanently
reduced by $10.1 million. As of November 1, 2008, we had $56.1 million of borrowing availability under our most restrictive
financial covenant, which will not be impacted by the 2009 excess cash flow payment mentioned above and discussed further below.

The Company’s net working capital is generally at its highest level in the first quarter of the fiscal year and trends down to
its lowest level near the end of the fiscal year due to seasonality in the business. We expect our borrowing availability to
decrease in the first quarter of 2009 due to our seasenal net working capital build.

Under the amendments, we are restricted from entering into any non-permitted acquisitions, repurchasing shares of our common
stock, paying dividends in excess of $1.63 million per quarter and are limited to the amount we can spend for capital expenditures.
Pricing under the amendment for the revolving credit facility utilizes a grid structure based on leverage with initial pricing on LIBOR
plus a margin of 2.25% or prime plus a margin of 1.25% Pricing under the 2006 Senior Notes increased by 1.04% to 6.82% and
pricing under the 2004 Senior Notes increased by 1.04% to 6.58%. Pricing under the Euro bank term loan utilizes a floating rate
chosen by us equal to either the one-month, three-month or six-month EURIBO rate plus a 2.25% borrowing margin.

Under the amendments, we are required to make ratable mandatory principal payments based on a percentage of our
excess cash flow (as defined in the agreements) to the lenders of the bank credit agreement, the 2006 senior noteholders, the
2004 senior noteholders and the Euro bank term loan noteholders. Based on our results in the fourth quarter of 2008, we will
be required make a $19.3 million payment in first quarter 2009 and this amount is classified in current maturities of long-term
debt. For 2009 and thereafter, we will be required to make mandatory principal payments on these debt agreements based on a
percentage of our annual excess cash flow until such obligations are paid in full.

As of November |, 2008, we had $274.7 million outstanding debt with a weighted average interest rate of 6.44%, of which
76% represented fixed rate instruments with a weighted average interest rate of 6.48%. In addition, as of November 1, 2008,
we used $10 million of cash held in Canada to pay down debt. Under Internal Revenue Service regulations, we can use this
cash to fund non-Canadian operations or pay down non-Canadian debt for 60 consecutive days or 180 total days during our
fiscal year without incurring income tax. If we were to permanently transfer this cash out of Canada, we would be required to
pay approximately $3 million of additional income tax.

While we currently expect to be in compliance with our covenants in the next twelve months, our failure to comply with
the covenants or other requirements of our financing arrangements is an event of default and couid require, among other
things, acceleration of the payment of our indebtedness, which could adversely impact our business, financial condition, and
results of operations.

We anticipate that cash flows from operations, together with the financing and borrowings under our bank credit facilities,
will provide the resources necessary for reinvestment in our existing business, strategic acquisitions and managing our capital
structure on a short and long-term basis.
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Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of November 1, 2008 and the estimated payments due by period:

(in millions) Less Than Years Years Greater than
Contractual Obligations Total 1 Year 2and3 4and$ 5 Years
Long-Term Debt......ccoecocnicss 3408 3 366 % 1336 % 763 $ 94.3
Capital Lease Obligations........ 6.9 13 1.2 1.2 3.2
Operating Lease Obligations ... 16.0 7.0 7.0 1.8 0.2
Purchase Obligations ............... 51.8 51.8 — — —
Other Obligations ..........coccee..e. 1.4 0.1 1.3 — —
Total.......cooovverrvrecrcciirens 8 4169 § 968 3 1431 § 793 % 9.7

Amounts included in long-term debt include principal and interest payments. Interest on debt with variable rates was
calculated using the current rate of that particular debt instrument at November 1, 2008. As discussed above, certain of our long-
term debt agreements are subject to mandatory prepayments, which include prepayments based on amounts of excess cash flow
and from the net cash proceeds of asset sales, subject to certain exceptions. Because mandatory prepayments are based on future
operating results and events, we cannot predict the amount or timing of such prepayments other than the $19.3 million recorded as
a current maturity of long-term debt. This mandatory prepayment was based on our excess cash flow during the fourth quarter of
2008 and must be paid during the first quarter of 2009. Actual amounts of interest may vary depending on principal prepayments
and changes in variable interest rates. Purchase obligations primarily consist of inventory purchases made in the normal course of
business to meet operational requirements. Other obligations consist primarily of a guarantee to enter into a financing agreement
in return for government investment subsidies. The table does not include long-term contingent liabilities, deferred compensation
obligations and liabilities related to deferred taxes because the Company is not certain when these liabilities will become due.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

In preparing our consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States, we must select and apply various accounting policies. Our most significant accounting policies are described in Note | to
our consolidated financial statements. In order to apply our accounting policies, we are required to make estimates and judgments
that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, sharcholders’ equity, revenues and expenses, and disclosures of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. Accounting policies, estimates and judgments which we believe are the
most eritical to aid in fully understanding and evaluating our reported financial results include the following:

Revenue Recognition — We recognize revenue as product is shipped and title passes to the customer. We manufacture our
products either to standard specifications or to custom specifications agreed upon with the customer in advance, and we inspect
our products prior to shipment to ensure that these specifications are met. We monitor and track product returns, which have
historically been within our expectations and the provisions established. Despite our efforts to improve our quality and service
to customers, we cannot guarantee that we will continue to experience the same or better return rates than we have in the past.
Any significant increase in returns could have a material negative impact on our operating results.

Allowance for Doubtful Trade Receivables — We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers and adjust credit
limits based upon payment history and the customer’s creditworthiness, as determined by our review of their current credit
‘nformation. We monitor market and economic conditions as well as collections and payments from our customers. We
maintain a provision for estimated credit losses based upon any specific customer collection issues identified, including market
and economic conditions. While such credit losses have historically been within our expectations and the provisions
established, actual credit loss rates may differ from our estimates. Any significant increase in credit losses in excess of our
expectations could have a material negative impact on the value of our trade receivables and operating results,

Inventory Valuation and Qbsolescence — We value inventories at the lower of (i) cost to purchase or manufacture the
inventory or (ii) the current estimated market value of the inventory. We also buy scrap and recyclable material (including
regrind material) to be used in future production. We record these inventories initially at purchase price, and based on the
inventory aging and other considerations for realizable value, we write down the carrying value to market value where
appropriate. We review inventory on-hand and record provisions for obsolete inventory. A significant increase in the demand
for our raw materials could result in a short-term increase in the cost of inventory purchases, while a significant decrease in
demand could result in an increase in the amount of excess inventory quantities on hand. In addition, most of our business
involves the manufacture of custom products, where the loss of a specific customer could increase the amount of excess or
obsolete inventory on hand. Although we make efforts to ensure the accuracy of our forecasts of future product demand, any
significant unanticipated changes in demand could have a significant impact on the value of our inventory and operating results.
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Goodwill — Our formal annual impairment testing date for goodwill is the firsi day of the Company’s fourth quarter. In addition, a
goodwill impairment assessment is performed if an event occurs or circumstances change that would make it more likely than not that
the fair value of a reporting unit is below its carrying amount. The goodwill impairment test is a two-step process which requires us to
make assumptions regarding fair value. The first step consists of estimating the fair value of each reporting unit using a number of
factors, including projected future operating results and business plans, economic projections, anticipated future cash flows, discount
rates, the allocation of shared or corporate items, and comparable marketplace fair value data from within a comparable industry
grouping. We compare the estimated fair values of each reporting unit to the respective carrying values, which includes allocated
goodwill. If the estimated fair value is less than the carrying value, the second step is completed to compute the impairment amount by
determining the "implied fair value" of goodwill. This determination requires the allocation of the estimated fair value of the reporting
unit to the assets and liabilities of the reporting unit. Any remaining unallocated fair value represents the “implied fair value” of
goodwill, which is compared to the cotresponding carrying value to compute the goodwill impairment amount, Although we believe
our estimates of fair value are reasonable, many of the factors used in assessing fair value and, for certain reporting units, the allocation
of estimated fair value to the assets and liabilities of those reporting units are outside the control of management, and it is reasonably
likely that assumptions and estimates can change in future periods. These changes can result in future impairments that may materially
affect the carrying value of our assets and our operating results. Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements sets out the impact of
charges taken to recognize the impairment of goodwill and the factors which led to changes in estimates and assumptions. The
packaging reporting unit was the only significant reporting unit that did not have goodwill impairment in 2008. Significant
assumptions used in our step one discounted cash flow analysis for the packaging reporting unit included a five year weighted average
growth rate of 3.2%, a discount rate of 11.5%, and a terminal value growth rate of 3%. Historically, our packaging reporting unit has
experienced less cyclicality than some of our other reporting units and this was specifically reflected in its discount rate.

Long-Lived Assets — We review the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment, other intangible assets and other
long-tived assets for potential impairment if an event occurs or circumstances change that indicates the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. In evaluating the recoverability of a long-lived asset, such assets are grouped at the lowest level for which
identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets, and we compare the carrying value of each
asset group with the corresponding estimated undiscounted future operating cash flows. In the event the carrying value of an
asset group is not recoverable by future undiscounted operating cash flows, impairment may exist. In the event of impairment,
an impairment charge would be measured as the amount by which the carrying value of the long-lived asset group exceeds its
fair value. Notes 4 and 5 to the consolidated financial statements set out the impact of charges taken to recognize the
significant impairments of fixed assets and other intangible assets and the factors which led to these impairments.

Income Taxes — Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on temporary differences between financial statement
carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities, applying enacted tax rates expected to be in effect for the year in which the
differences are expected to reverse. Deferred tax assets are recognized for credit carryforwards and then assessed to determine the
likelihood of realization. Valuation allowances are established to the extent we believe it is more likely than not that deferred tax
assets will not be realized. Expectations of future earnings, the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, the ability to
carryback losses and credits to offset taxable income in a prior year, and tax planning strategies are the primary drivers underlying
our evaluation of valuation allowances. Deferred tax amounts recorded may materially differ from the amounts that are ultimately
payable and expensed if our estimates of future earnings and outcomes of tax planning strategies are ultimately inaccurate.

Defetred income taxes are not provided for undistributed eamnings on foreign consolidated subsidiaries to the extent that such
earnings are reinvested for an indefinite period of time. If those undistributed foreign earnings were not considered indefinitely
reinvested, we would be required to recognize approximately $7.0 million to $8.7 million of additional income tax expense.

On November 4, 2007, we adopted the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 48,
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (“FIN 487). FIN 48 requires
financial statement recognition of the impact of a tax position, if that position is more likely than not to be sustained on
examination, based on the technical merits of the position. The benefit is calculated as the largest amount that is more than 50
percent likely to be realized upon resolution of the benefit. Tax authorities regularly examine the Company’s tax returns in the
jurisdictions in which we do business. We regularly assess the tax risk of our return filing positions and we believe that our
accruals for uncertain tax benefits are adequate as of November 1, 2008,

Contingencies — We are involved in litigation in the ordinary course of business, including environmental matiers. Our
policy is to record expense for contingencies when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount can be
reasonably estimated. Estimating probable losses requires assessment of muitiple outcomes that often depends on
management’s judgments regarding, but not limited to, potential actions by third parties such as regulators. The final
resolution of these contingencies conld result in expenses different from current accruals and, therefore, have a material impact
on our consolidated financial results in a future reporting period.

For additional information regarding our significant accounting policies, as well as the impact of recently issued
accounting standards, see Note | to our consolidated financial statements.
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Item 7TA. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to changes in interest rates primarily as a result of our borrowing activities. Our earnings and cash flows
are subject to fluctuations in interest rates on our floating rate debt facilities. At November 1, 2008, we had $60.7 million of
debt subject to variable short-term interest rates and $213.9 million of fixed rate debt outstanding. Based upon the November
1, 2008 balance of the floating rate debt, a hypothetical ten-percent increase in interest rates would cause an immaterial change
in future net earnings, fair values and cash flows. We are not currently engaged in any interest rate derivative instruments to
manage our exposure to interest rate fluctuations. The fair value of our fixed rate debt is subject to changes in interest rates and
the November 1, 2008 fair values of such instruments are disclosed in Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements.

We are also exposed to market risk through changes in foreign currency exchange rates, specifically the Canadian dollar,
Euro and Mexican peso. Based upon our November 1, 2008 currency exposure, a hypothetical ten-percent weakening of the
U.S. dollar in each currency would cause an immaterial change in future earnings, fair values and cash flows.

See Item 1A for additional disclosures about market risk.

Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Management’s Responsibility for Financial Statements

The Company’s management is responsible for the integrity and accuracy of the financial statements. Management
believes that the financial statements for the three years ended November [, 2008 have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. In preparing the financial statements, management makes
informed judgments and estimates when necessary to reflect the expected effects of events and transactions that have not been
completed. The Company’s disclosure controls and procedures ensure that material information required to be disclosed is
recorded, processed, summarized and communicated with management and reported within the required time periods.

In meeting its responsibility for the reliability of the financial statements, management relies on a system of internal
controls. This system is designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded and transactions are executed in
accordance with management’s authorization and recorded properly to allow the preparation of financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The design of this system recognizes that errors
or irregularities may occur and that estimates and judgments are required to assess the relative cost and expected benefits of the
controls. Management believes the Company’s accounting controls provide reasonable assurance that errors or irregularities
that could be material to the financial statements are prevented or would be detected in a timely period.

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring the independence and qualifications of Audit Committee
members under applicable New York Stock Exchange and Securities and Exchange Commission standards. The Audit
Committee consists of three independent directors and oversees the Company’s financial reporting and internal controls
system. The Audit Committee meets with management, the independent registered public accounting firm and intemnal
auditors periodically to review auditing, financial reporting and internal control matters. The Audit Committee held eight
meetings during 2008.

The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, Emst & Young LLP, is engaged to express an opinion on
the Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Their
opinions are based on procedures which they believe to be sufficient to provide reasonable assurance that the financial
statermnents contain no material errors and that the Company’s internal controls are effective.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting. With the participation of the chief executive officer and chief financial officer, management conducted an
assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting based on the framework set forth in Internal
Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO™).
Based on this evaluation, management concluded that the Company's internal control over financial reporting was effective as
of November 1, 2008.

The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP, has issued an audit report on their
assessment of the Company’s internal control over financiat reporting.
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Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Spartech Corporation and Subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Spartech Corporation and subsidiaries (the Company) as of
November 1, 2008, and November 3, 2007, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity, and
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended November 1, 2008. Our audits also included the financial statement
schedule listed in the Index at item 15(a). These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and the significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial
position of Spartech Corporation and subsidiaries at November 1, 2008, and November 3, 2007, and the consolidated results of
their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended November 1, 2008, in conformity with U.S,
generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in
relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth
therein.

As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, in 2008, the Company changed its method of accounting for uncertain tax
positions.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of November 1, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal
Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our
report dated January 12, 2009, expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Emst & Young LLP

St. Louis, Missouri
January 12, 2009
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Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Spartech Corporation and Subsidiaries

We have audited Spartech Corporation and subsidiaries’ (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of
November 1, 2008, based on criteria established in /nternal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). The Company’s management is responsible for
maintaining effective internal contro} over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design
and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
November 1, 2008, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of November 1, 2008, and November 3, 2007, and the related consolidated

statements of operations, sharcholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
November 1, 2008, and our report dated January 12, 2009, expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

St. Louis, Missouri
January 12, 2009
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SPARTECH CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

{Dollars in thousands)

ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents............cooveecevicninincnnec e e
Trade receivables, net of allowance of $4,550 in 2008 and $1,572 in

Prepaids and other current assets........ccocoeeeeervrveninenecs s
Total Current ASSEIS..........coocvviemerrcr e

Property, plant and equipment, NEt..........cccoceoeevieeieivrecreeccrirrre s vesens
GOOAWIll...o e e
Other intangible assets, Nel.........cceivereericerininiri e s
OLhET BSSBLS ...vcuiuieeeecirire e aranra e s sa b b ssse s bbb et sr e srnraras

Total ASSEIS.......oocoieece s s

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Current maturities of long-term debt .............cocoov i,
Accounts payable ... et
Accrued labilities..........ovveieiiceiiiniiie i,
Total Current Liabilities ................c.ccovimeevevncnicinininessnneseinienns
Long-Term Debt:
Long-term debt, less current maturities........ovviveereesinnnniesinesrnesrsrmnenns
Other Long-Term Liabilities:
Deferred taXeS......coovvveiniriieiecsiriesie st e steeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeese e e eeseeene e s e e e
Other Habilities . .....oooviiiiieieeeeeee e
Total Liahilities ... e e
Shareholders’ equity
Preferred stock (authorized: 4,000,000 shares, par value $1.00)

ISSUEd: NOME....ccoireeeeccinirine ettt en et
Common stock {authorized: 55,000,000 shares, par value $0.75)

Issued: 33,131,846 shares;

Qutstanding: 30,563,605 and 30,564,946 shares, respectively......
Contributed capital.........ocoovveceeeeiiiiiininiieseereene e e
Retained Bammings .........cocooviee et e e
Treasury stock, at cost, 2,568,241 and 2,566,900 shares, respectively ..
Accumulated other comprehensive income.........coceeeivicirniceseeninee.

Total Shareholders’ Equity..............ooooo

Taotal Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity.....................oeervirnnens

November 1,

November 3,

2008 2007
$ 2,118 § 3,409
176,108 212,221
96,721 116,076
24,665 20,570
299,612 352,276
280,202 324,025
145,498 383,988
32,7122 45,151
4,385 5431
8 762419 § _ 1,110,871
$ 20,428 § 448
155,594 167,713
42,676 49319
218,698 217,480
254,226 333,835
56,516 111,997
6,189 8,279
535,629 454,111
24,849 24,849
202,656 200,485
53,588 257,111
(56,389) (52,531)

2,086
226.790

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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SPARTECH CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

2008 2007 2006
Net SALES.......covrereirrers e ecsaeasbesans $ 1398893 3 1451983 § 1,485,597
Costs and Expenses:
COSt OF SAIES......cv et 1,273,015 1,288,402 1,309,060
Selling, general, and administrative expenses................. 92,557 83,830 75,379
Amortization of intangibles .........ccccovrvnneniiicinenns 5,189 4,500 4,718
Goodwill IMmpaIrments ..........ccooeeeeecinnn s 238,641 — 3,159
Fixed asset and other intangible asset impairments........ 15,503 1,550 —
Restructuring and exit CostS......ccceceviiicininennnniiineanens 2,320 1,262 1.857
1,627,225 1.379.544 1,394.173
Operating Earnings (Loss) ..o (228,332) 72,439 91,424
Interest expense (net of interest income: 2008, $395;
2007, $501; 2006, $655) ... ceueerereremreeeccere e 20,574 17,629 20,981
Early debt extinguiShment COStS .......ererermrercerrcrrenecrennnns — — 5.505
Earnings (L.oss) Befere Income Taxes.................... {248,906) 54,810 64,938
Income tax expense (benefit)........ococreociniininininene. {56.794) 20.964 26,140
Net Earnings (LosS).......cooorveerninciiiine § _(192,112) § 33846 % 38,798
Net Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share:
BASIC. .ot eee e st ea et easatns e et arnr b en 3 (6.35) 3 1.06 §$ 1.21
DAIIEEA ..ot $ (635) 3 105 § 1.20

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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SPARTECH CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS®’ EQUITY
{Dollars in thousands)

Accumulated
Other
Compre- Total
hensive Share-
Common  Contributed  Retained  Treasury Income holders'
Stock Capital Earnings Stock (Loss) Equity
Balance, October 29, 2005.............. $ 24849 $ 196,811 $ 217,642 § (26,019) § 477 $ 413,760
Comprehensive income:
Net CAMINES ..ot v reraens — — 38,798 — — 38,798
Other comprehensive income:

Translation adjustments.............. — — — — 1,153 1,153
Comprehensive income.............c....... 39,951
Stock-based compensation................ — 1,850 — 3,994 — 5,844
Dividends declared...........ccooeeeeee. — — (16,042) — — (16,042)
Treasury stock purchases ..........c.vve.. e o — (820) — (820)
Balance, October 28, 2006.............. $ 24849 3 198,661 § 240,398 § (22,845) % 1,630 $ 442,693
Comprehensive income:

Net CAMINES...ocoeeeeeeeceeee e ee e — —_ 33,846 — — 33,846
Other comprehensive income:

Translation adjustments ............. — — — — 7,736 7,736
Comprehensive income..........c..ccvene 41,582
Stock-based compensation................ — 1,824 — 10,225 — 12,049
Dividends declared...........ccccoennee. — — (17,133) — — (17,133)
Treasury stock purchases.................. — — — (39.911) — (39.911)
Balance, November 3, 2007 ............ $ 24849 § 200485 $ 257,111 § (52,531) § 9,366 $ 439,280
Comprehensive loss:

NEL I0SS covviririnsiirirsiseiceinseeians — — (192,112) — —  (192,112)
Other comprehensive loss:

Translation adjustments ............. — — — — (7,280) (7.280)
Comprehensive 10Ss .......c.ocovcvireirannes (199,392)
Issuance of common stock................ — (1,282) — 4,094 — 2,812
Stock-based compensation................ — 3,453 — 178 —_ 3,631
Dividends declared..........ccccunenneene. — — {11,291) — — (11,291)
Treasury stock purchases .................. — — — (8,130) — (8,130)
Adjustment to initially apply FIN 48 .. — — (120) — — (120
Balance, November 1, 2008............. 24849 5§ 202656 § __S3S5BR 3 (56389 & ___ 2,086 3 226790

See accompanying noles to consolidated financial statements.
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SPARTECH CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Dollars in thousands)

2008 2007 2006

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Net earnings (1055) c.vveeiererererrrrirererereresenssssrssssssesessiesersrsrsress s sesreesescas $ (192,112) § 33846 § 38,798
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings (loss) to net cash provided by

operating activities:

Depreciation and amortiZation............covevernierererinisniiiinies 47,201 43,069 40,698
Stock-based cOmMPENSAtION EXPENSE....cccciirriririnrnerereesrerriemmesenereenesrens 3,634 2,884 2,790
GoodWill IMPAIMIENL....evv e i 238,641 — 3,159
Fixed asset and other intangible asset impairments.............c.ccecian 15,846 1,550 —
Restructuring and eXit COSS.....cvcummrmmmeresrseererorermsmescacmcrmseeeeseseesesnsass 659 573 269
Early debt extinguishment COStS .......coovrvevnienercinicinirinisiniions — — 5,505
Provision for bad debt eXpense........coeeceeevicirnmnnnineesccnecn e 4,763 2,099 2,330
DEferred 1AXES ..o et s (59,100) 2,792 3497
Changes in current assets and liabilities, net of effects of
acquisitions:
Trade receivables. ... eesrne e 31,326 (6,172) 9,331
Inventories.. 19,026 10,291 (2,789)
Prepaid expenses and other t,urrent assets 1,727 (664) (1,472)
Accounts payable... ... (11,691) 16,761 28,639
Accrued Habilities. ... vereere e (2,766) {(6,078) (2,157
L7111 08 1 1= SRRSO VYR (542) 3,060 (1.055)
Net cash provided by operating activities .......c...ocovnieeiinanes 96,612 104,011 127,543
Cash Flows From lnvesting Activities
Capital expenditures ... (17,276) (34,743) (23,966)
Business acquisitions... (792) (61,371) —
Proceeds from dlsp051t|0ns of assets .................................................... 584 94 2,428
Net cash used by investing activities........cc..cccovnrcieeceereenes (17.484) (96.020) (21,538)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Bank credit facility borrowings/(payments), net ... (49,903) 36,823 23,812
Borrowings from issuance of NOLES ..o _ — 50,000
Payments on notes and bank term loan..........cccoooiiiniicies (7,876) — (10,715)
Payment of convertible subordinated debentures ..............coooveveecrneeen. — — (150,000)
Borrowings / (payments) on bonds and l€ases...........c..ocvrvrereeeveraineeeens 573 (580) {469)
Early payment premiums on convertible subordinated debentures ...... — — (3,780)
Diebt 1SSUANCE COSIS....oimiiiiriiiiiee s icieeis b eerestee st r e e e saaeebbassasasarsssnon (2,424) —_ —
Cash dividends on common StOCK ......coviiivecieceieiniiiiirreeseecesssesenans (13,926) {17,006) (15,883)
Issuance of cOmMMON STOCK...c.civeicrieiivces et 2,812 — —
Stock options eXerCiSed .........oeiiiininiiierciei e 16 8,449 2,990
Treasury Stock acqUITed........covvevinniireinrccrmncrnisr e e asessnsesesens {9,667) (38,374) (1,541)
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation ...........c.covvvnneneee — 716 344
Net cash used by financing activities ........ccccoovvviiiiieciereenencan (80.395) (9.972) {105,242)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents ............ (24) 18 8
{Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents..........ccoeeveercivrcrcrnnnes (1,291) (1,963) 771
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ..........ccoccvvirvccrnnnns 3,409 5,372 4,601
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year.............c.ccccoovvieecececeecencncnn. b 2,118 § 3409 § 5,372

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
{Doltars in thousands, except per share amounts)

1) Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation — The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts and related disclosures.
Actual results could differ from those estimates. Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current
year presentation.

The Company’s fiscal year ends on the Saturday closest to October 31, and fiscal years generally contain 52 weeks or 364
calendar days. Because of this convention, every fifth or sixth fiscal year has an additional week, and 2007 was reported as a 53-
week fiscal year containing 371 days of activity. The additional week was reported in the first quarter ended February 3, 2007.

Principles of Consolidation — The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Spartech
Corporation and its controlled affiliates. All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.

Segments — Spartech is organized into three reportable segments and one group of operating segments based on the
products manufactured. The three reportable segments are Custom Sheet and Rollstock, Packaging Technologies and Color
and Specialty Compounds with the remaining businesses combined together in the Engineered Products group. The Color and
Specialty Compounds segment consists of three operating segments that are aggregated into a reportable segment based on the
nature of the products manufactured. The Engineered Products group consists of four operating segments that are combined
because each operating segment does not meet the materiality threshold for separate disclosure.

Revenue Recognition - The Company manufactures products for specific customer orders and for standard stock
inventory. Revenues are recognized as the product is shipped to the customer in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles as well as the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Staff Accounting Bulletin 104, Revenue
Recognition. Shipping and handling costs associated with the shipment of goods are recorded as costs of sales in the
consolidated statement of operations.

Cash Equivalents — Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts — The Company petrforms ongoing credit evaluations of customers that include
reviewing creditworthiness from third-party reporting agencies, monitoring market and economic conditions, monitoring
payment histories, and adjusting credit limits as necessary. The Company continually monitors collections and payments from
customers and maintains a provision for estimated credit losses based on specifically identified customer collection issues.

Inventories - Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. Inventory values are primarily based on either actual
or standard costs which approximate average cost. Standard costs are revised at least once annually, the effect of which is
allocated between inventories and cost of sales. Finished goods include the costs of material, labor, and overhead.

Property, Plant and Equipment — Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation, Major
additions and improvements are capitalized. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. Depreciation expense is
recorded on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the related assets as shown below and totaled $42,012,
$38,569, and $35,980 in years 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively.

Years
Buildings and leasehold improvements ....... 20-25
Machinery and equipment .........ccocrrrmreene 12-16
Furniture and fixtures ............ccccecvveennne 5-10
Computer equipment and software .............. 3-7

recorded at their respective fair values. Goodwill is assigned to the reporting unit that benefits from the acquired business.
The Company's annual goodwill impairment testing date is the first day of the Company’s fourth quarter. In addition, a
goodwill impairment assessment is performed if an event occurs or circumstances change that would make it more likely than
not that the fair value of a reporting unit is below its carrying amount. The goodwill impairment test is a two-step process |
which requires us to make assumptions regarding fair value. The first step consists of estimating the fair value of each !
reporting unit using a number of factors including projected future operating results and business plans, economic projections,

\
Goodwill — Assets and liabilities acquired in business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method and |
|
|

28



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

anticipated future cash flows, discount rates, the allocation of shared or corporate items and comparable marketplace fair value
data from within a comparable industry grouping. The estimated fair values of each reporting unit are compared to the
respective carrying values, which includes allocated goodwill. If the estimated fair value is less than the carrying value, the
second step is completed to compute the impairment amount by determining the "implied fair value” of goodwill. This
determination requires the allocation of the estimated fair value of the reporting unit to the assets and liabilities of the reporting
unit. Any remaining unallocated fair value represents the "implied fair value" of goodwill, which is compared to the
corresponding carrying value to compute the goodwill impairment amount. Management believes the estimates of the
underlying components of fair value are reasonable.

Other Intangible Assets — Costs allocated to customer contracts, product formulations and other intangible assets are
based on their fair value at the date of acquisition. The cost of other intangible assets is amortized on a straight-line basis over
the assets’ estimated useful life ranging from 3 to 20 years.

Long-Lived Assets — The Company reviews the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment, other intangible assets
and other long-lived assets for potential impairment if an event occurs or circumstances change that indicates the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. In evaluating the recoverability of long-lived assets, such assets are grouped at the lowest
level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets, and management compares the
carrying value of each asset group with the corresponding estimated undiscounted future operating cash flows. In the event the
carrying value of an asset group is not recoverable by future undiscounted operating cash flows, impairment may exist. In the
event of impairment, an impairment charge would be measured as the amount by which the carrying value of the long-lived
asset group exceeds its fair value.

Fair Values of Financial Instruments — The Company uses the following methods and assumptions in estimating the fair
value of financial instruments:

e Cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and accrued liabilities — the carrying value of these instruments
approximates fair value due to their short-term nature;

» Long-term debt (including bank credit facilities) — based on quoted, current market prices for the same or similar
issues. As of November I, 2008, the fair value of other long-term debt was $259,832 compared to the carrying
amount of $274,654.

Stock-Based Compensation — In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (“SFAS”) No. 123 (revised
2004), Share-Based Payment (“SFAS 123(R)™"), the Company measures and recognizes compensation expense for all share-
based payment awards made to employees and directors based on estimated fair values. See Note 7 for further details.

Foreign Currency Translation — Assets and liabilities of the Company’s non-U.S. operations are translated from their
functional currency to U.S. dollars using exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date, and adjustments resulting from the
translation process are included in accumulated other comprehensive income. Transactional gains and losses arising from
receivable and payable balances, including intercompany balances, in the normal course of business that are denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the operation are recorded in the statements of operations when they occur. The
Company’s foreign currency net losses totaled $994, $2,839 and $286 in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Income Taxes — Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to temporary
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred
tax assets are also recognized for credit carryforwards and then assessed (including the anticipation of future income) to
determine the likelihood of realization. A valuation allowance is established to the extent management believes that it is more
likely than not that a deferred tax asset will not be realized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the rates
expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which the temporary differences are expected to reverse and the credits are
expected to be used. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the
period that includes the enactment date. Deferred income taxes are not provided for undistributed earnings on foreign
consclidated subsidiaries to the extent such earnings are reinvested for an indefinite period of time.

On November 4, 2007, the Company adopted the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™)
Interpretation FIN No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (“FIN
48™), FIN 48 requires financial statement recognition of the impact of a tax position, if that position is more likely than not to be
sustained on examination, based on the technical merits of the position. The benefit is calculated as the largest amount that is
more than 50 percent likely to be realized upon resolution of the benefit. Tax authorities regularly examine the Company’s tax
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returns in the jurisdictions in which the Company does business, The Company regularly assesses the tax risk of the Company’s
return filing positions and has concluded its accruals for uncertain tax benefits are adequate as of November 1, 2008.

Comprehensive Income — Comprehensive income is the Company’s change in equity during the period related to
transactions, events, and circumstances from non-owner sources. At November 1, 2008 and November 3, 2007, accumuiated
other comprehensive income consisted of cumulative foreign currency translation adjustments.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards — In June 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position on Emerging Issues Task
Force Issue No. 03-6-1, Determining Whether Instruments Granted in Share-Based Payment Transactions Are Participating
Securities (“FSP EITF 03-6-17). FSP EITF (3-6-1 requires unvested share-payment awards that contain rights to receive non-
forfeitable dividends or dividend equivalents to be included in the two-class method of computing earnings per share as
described in SFAS No. 128, Earnings per Share. FSP EITF 03-6-1 is effective for the Company in fiscal year 2010. The
Company is currently evaluating the impact of FSP EITF 03-6-1 on the consolidated financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), Business Combinations (“SFAS 141R”). Under
SFAS 141R, an entity is required to recognize the assets acquired, liabilities assumed, contractual contingencies and contingent
consideration measured at their fair value at the acquisition date. It further requires that acquisition-related costs are to be
recognized separately from the acquisition and expensed as incurred. In addition, acquired in-process research and
development is capitalized at fair value as an intangible asset and amortized over its estimated useful life. SFAS 14IR is
effective for business combinations for which the acquisition date is afier the beginning of the first annual reporting period
beginning after December 15, 2008. Accordingly, the Company will adopt SFAS 141R in fiscal year 2010. The Company is
currently evaluating the impact of SFAS 141R on its consolidated financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 157, Fair Value Measurements (“SFAS 157"). SFAS 157 defines fair value,
establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles, and expands disclosures about
fair value measurements. This statement is effective for the Company beginning in fiscal year 2009. The adoption of SFAS
157 will require expanded disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

2) Acquisition

On September 14, 2007, the Company purchased substantially all of the assets of Creative Forming, Inc., (“Creative™)
based in Ripon, Wisconsin. The operations purchased included a facility that primarily thermoforms plastic packaging
products for the food packaging and consumer products markets. Creative is included in the Packaging Technologies segment.
The cash price for this acquisition of $62,163 was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed of $78,220 and
$16,057, respectively.

The allocation of purchase price to assets acquired includes $4,610 of net working capital, $21,066 of property, plant, and
equipment, $14,168 of identified intangibles, $11,460 of net deferred tax liabilities and $33,779 of goodwill, none of which is
deductibte for tax purposes. The identified intangibles and respective weighted average amortization periods upen acquisition
were $12,300 of customer contracts and relationships (nine years), $1,754 of trademarks (three years), $14 of patents (nine
years) and $100 of non-compete agreements (iwo years). As discussed in Note 5, in 2007, a specific customer of Creative
discontinued a product line subsequent to the acquisition date. As a result, $1,550 of the customer contract and relationship
intangible asset established upon acquisition was impaired.

3) Inventories

Inventories at November 1, 2008 and November 3, 2007 consisted of the following:

2008 2007
RAW MALETIALS .....vecveiveeetietecit et eetee s v e s vnsssassenssr s sna st esssssstsatasnsarsnontronsones $ 54,052 % 60,218
Production SUPPLIES .....covvveeccce e e 8,725 9,204
Finished Z00dS .......co oot 33,944 46,654

$ 96721 $__116,076
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4) Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consisted of the following at November 1, 2008 and November 3, 2007:

2008 2007
LN oo ereres s sesenaeeem s sseasssassasensseensensssnmssnenninneeneee 3 11,408 § 11,749
Buildings and leasehold improvements.............c.coovecececceessissiismmninnnnnens 104,830 106,647
Machinery and eqUIPIMENL.........ccoiirivsiesi ittt sas s 418,418 445,888
Computer equipment and SOfWATE. ..., 37,208 33,565
Furniture and FIXIUIES ........ccooiiiiiiiiinieiienresesiesees e snesieeresnensvas e e seseecseesesnsses 6.214 6,978

578,078 604,827
Accumulated depreciation. ........o.ceveerecrerrnrirererececeermes bbbt (297,876) (280.802)

§ 280202 § 324,025

The Company’s Donchery, France facility maintains two extrusion lines exclusively for a certain custom sheet and
rollstock automotive customer. In 2008, the customer terminated the Company’s contract. As a result, the Company
completed an impairment assessment and recorded an impairment loss of $5,901 to adjust these assets to fair value based on a
discounted cash flow approach.

In conjunction with the Company’s 2008 annual goodwill and indefinite life intangible impairment tests (see Note 5), the
discounted cash flow analysis for the Company’s Marine reporting unit indicated that its fair value was less than the net book
value of its assets. Although the Marine reporting unit does not have any allocated goodwill, the Company tested the property,
plant and equipment for impairment. The Company determined that the assets of the Marine reporting unit were grouped at the
lowest level, were not recoverable by future undiscounted cash flows, and recorded an impairment loss of $914 to adjust these
assets to fair value. This impairment charge was included in the Engineered Products group.

5) Goodwill and Identifiable Intangible Assets

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended November 1, 2008 and November 3, 2007 are as follows:

Color and

Custom Sheet Packaging Specialty Engineered

and Rollstock _Technologies. _Compounds Products Total
Balance, October 28, 2006...... $ 195,359 § — 3 122927 § 32,113 § 350,399
Reclassifications ........cceeeerneene (70,039) 70,039 —_ — —
Creative acquisition................. — 33,589 — — 33,589
Balance, November 3, 2007.... 125,320 103,628 122,927 32,113 383,988
Reclassifications.........c.c.ce..ee. 9,143 {9,143) — — —
Creative acquisition................. — 15 — —_ 151
Impairment ......cccccoeeceecoenenene {113,440) — {104,525) {20,676) (238.641)

Balance, November 1,2008.. § 21,023 § 94,636 & 18,402 § 11437 § 145498

The Company’s annual measurement date for its goodwill impairment test is the first day of its fourth quarter
(August 3, 2008). Due to the current market conditions and the continuing difference between the Company’s market value
and book value, the Company concluded that the carrying amounts of the Custom Sheet and Rollstock, Polycom, Polymer
Extruded Products (“PEP”), and Wheels reporting units exceeded their respective fair values. The Polycom and PEP reporting
units are included in the Color and Specialty Compounds segment and the Wheels reporting unit is included in the Engineered
Products group. Based upon the results of a third-party appraisal of long-lived assets and internal estimates of discounted cash
flows, management compared the implied fair value of the goodwill in each reporting unit with the carrying value and
concluded that a $238,641 goodwill impairment charge was required. A tax benefit has been recognized on a portion of these
goodwill impairments. See Note 11 for further details on the tax impact of the goodwill impairments. The Polycom and PEP
goodwill impairments were $98,056 and $6,469, respectively, and the Wheels reporting unit was the only impaired reporting
unit in the Engineered Products segment. After the recognition of the impairment losses, the remaining goodwill in the Custom
Sheet and Rollstock, Polycom, PEP, and Wheels reporting units is $21,023, $11,349, $7,053, and $1,153, respectively.
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In conjunction with the relocation of the Company’s Packaging Technologies Mankato, Minnesota production facility to
other Spartech production facilities (as further discussed in Note 6), certain business was relocated to Custom Sheet and
Rollstock production facilities. As a result, goodwill was ailocated using the relative fair value of the transferred business.

In 2007, the Company formed a new segment, Packaging Technologies, which contains operations that were formerly
included in the Custom Sheet and Rollstock segment. As a result, a portion of Custom Sheet and Rollstock’s goodwill was
allocated to Packaging Technologies based on the relative fair value of those reporting units.

As of November 1, 2008 and November 3, 2007, the Company had amertizable intangible assets as follows:

Gross Accumulated
Carrying Amount Amortization
2008 2007 2008 2007
Non-compete agreements............... 3 980 % 1,768 $ 560 $ 1,146
Customer contracts/relationships ... 21,505 28,115 5,558 6,421
Product formulations/trademarks ... 23,3185 20,324 7,030 6,389

§ 45870 § 50207 S 13048 $ 13956

Amortization expense for intangible assets totaled $5,189, $4,500 and $4,718 in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
Amortization expense for amortizable intangible assets over the next five vears is estimated to be:

Intangible
Year Ended Amortization
2009t eeeae e e e e eree e ea bt tateent s srenreete e sabeeteetesatenarrnesnneratereeareens $ 4,463
P 0 U ST SOV RRU R POUPTPON 3,765
1.1 1] L OO U OO UURU SO UUPOTPRPOO 3,259
2002 ettt e e bt ettt e e et a b e er b e e enseeeeea b et A A AT b b ba et 4t tns e tneenteenneeenen 3,259
2 e et b e e e et e e e te et aeanseenrreate e bt e aasbeen s e et e enteeaaneeentaenaneaenten 3,259

In conjunction with the Company’s annual goodwill impairment assessment, the Company performed impairment analyses
pursuant to SFAS 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets on certain other intangible assets that
had indications that the carrying amount may not be recoverable, Based on the Company’s impairment analyses, the Company
determined that certain customer contracts/relationships, a product formulation, and a trademark were partially impaired.
Accordingly, the Company recorded $6,906 of impairment charges to write down these other intangible assets to fair value.
These impairment charges were included in the Color and Specialty Compounds segment. Additionally, the Company changed
the classification of one of its trademarks from an indefinite life intangible to an amortizable intangible and has begun to
amortize it over 20 years.

On September 14, 2007, the Company completed the purchase of Creative. On October 18, 2007, Pfizer, Inc. (“Pfizer™), a
customer of Creative, announced the exit of its new inhaled insulin product named Exubera. Management determined that the
$1,550 intangible asset assigned to the Pfizer relationship upon acquisition had become impaired. This impairment charge was
included in the Packaging Technologies segment.

6) Restructuring

Restructuring charges were recorded in the consolidated statements of operations as follows:

2008 2007 2006

Restructuring and exit costs:

Custom Sheet and RollStOcK ........cccceeveerreirirnininnnns $ 703§ L7 $ 203

Packaging Technologies ........cccooevvvrvvrevinrenennnns 762 - -

Color and Specialty Compounds .......cceeveeievennne.n. 844 145 1,654

Engineered Products ..........ccoocoeeecevninincninneen, - - -

COTPOTALE ... et 11 - -
Total restructuring and exit COSES .....ccccvvrvnirivnrivainianns 2320 1,262 1.857
Impact on earnings {loss) before income taxes.............. 2,320 1,262 1,857
Impact on income tax expense (benefit) ..........ccoeeee... {783) (478) (706)
Impact on net earnings (loss} .....covvviereereiccecicnenn, 5 1.537 3 84 3 1151
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2008 Restructuring Plan

As part of the Company’s manufacturing cost optimization strategy, the Company announced a restructuring initiative
reducing the number of jobs at the Company by 10 percent and optimizing the use of flex time in the operations. As part of this
initiative, the Company also shut down a Packaging Technologies production facility in Mankato, Minnesota and a Color and
Specialty Compound production facility in St. Clair, Michigan and relocated this business to other Spartech production
facilities.

Future manufacturing cost optimization initiatives are expected to include additional consolidations or production capacity,
organizational restructuring plans, manufacturing cost reduction efforts, and other improvements. Some of these activities will
result in future exit and restructuring costs; however, manufacturing cost optimization activities do not represent present
obligations, and thus, no exit and restructuring costs have been recognized to date. Future plans are expected to be consistent
with those actions taken to reduce the Company’s labor costs by 10% and efforts to reduce its overall manufacturing footprint.

The following table summarizes the restructuring and exit costs related to the 2008 restructuring plan:

2008
Accelerated depreciation.........ceeeeevneiiicinnes 5 667
Facility restructuring and exit costs................ 1,175
Total.....oeeeerieirrereee et § 1842

Accelerated depreciation represents the impact from the reduced life on property, plant and equipment associated with the
Mankato and St. Clair facilities. Facility restructuring and exit costs represent employee severance, equipment moving and
installation costs. For announced restructuring initiatives as of November 1, 2008, the Company expects to incur
approximately $1,800 of additional restructuring costs, primarily cash-related equipment moving and installation expenses.
Excluding the future moving and installation costs, which should be completed by 2010, the Mankato and St. Clair
consolidation initiative were completed in the fourth quarter of 2008,

2006 Restructuring Plan

In 2006, the Company announced the consolidation of three existing Custom Sheet and Rollstock production facilities into
one newly constructed facility in Greenville, Ohio. The following table summarizes the restructuring and exit costs which are
largely related to the 2006 restructuring plan:

2008 2007 2006 Cumulative

Accelerated depreciation ........eeeeeveveececeerininreccesinin. $ — % 501§ 126 § 627
Facility restructuring and exit Costs........covvorermrnesenecnnnnn. 478 561 75 1,114
b 478 3 1,062 3 201 % 1,741

Accelerated depreciation represents the impact from the reduced life on property, plant and equipment related to a decision
to sell one existing production facility and certain production equipment. Facility restructuring and exit costs represent
employee severance, equipment moving and installation costs. The 2006 restructuring plan activities were finalized in the third
quarter of 2008.

2005 Restructuring Plan

In 2005, the Company initiated a plan involving the closing or sale of certain plant facilities and other cost-reduction
efforts. Total expenses under this plan for 2008, 2007, 2006 and 2005 were $0, $200, $1,656 and $10,088, respectively, for a
cumulative total of the plan of $11,944. At the end of 2007, all properties held for sale had been sold or disposed and all
outstanding liabilities had been sertled.

The Company’s total restructuring liabilities representing severance and moving costs were $138 at November 1, 2008 and
$146 at November 3, 2007, Cash payments were $1,661 during 2008.
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7} Stock-Based Compensation

On October 30, 2005, the Company adopted SFAS 123(R) using the modified prospective transition method. The
Company’s 2004 Equity Compensation Plan (the “Plan”) allows for grants of stock options, restricted stock and restricted stock
units. During the first quarter of 2007, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors adopted an amendment to the
Plan that provides for the grant of stock appreciation rights (“SARS™) and performance shares. Beginning in 2007, SARS,
restricted stock and performance shares had replaced stock options as the equity compensation instruments used by the
Company.

General

The following table details the effect of stock-based compensation from the issuance of equity compensation instruments
on operating earnings/loss, net earnings/loss, and earnings/loss per share:

2008 2007 2006

COSE OF SALES 1. rerer bbbttt a et ettt bbbttt s e nees $ 262 $ 278 8 273
Selling, general and adminIStrative ..o 3372 2,606 2,517

Total stock-based compensation expense included in operating

CAMMINES/IOSS ... erericeie e rer s e e e eesae st rrs s sn e eerebeens 3,634 2,884 2,790
INCOME LAXES ..eoeeeeeecrmisi ettt rares e n et ere s bbb ae e e e s 1,106 796 655

Effect on net earmnings/lo8s........ouvveeeveciiininnirnes e § 2528 3 2,088 % 2,135
Effect on basic and diluted earnings/loss per share...........occcvevevvernveenne. b A8 5 07 § 07

As discussed in Note 8, the Company entered into a separation agreement with its former Chief Executive Officer during
2007. As aresult, all non-vested stock compensation was forfeited on his termination date, and $368 of compensation expense
was reversed related to equity instruments that were initially expected to vest but were ultimately forfeited.

SARS

SARS are granted with lives of 10 years and graded vesting over 4 years and can be settled only in the Company’s
commen stock. The estimated fair value is computed using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Expected volatility is
based on historical periods commensurate with the expected life of SARS, and expected life is based on historical experience
and expected exercise patterns in the future. Stock compensation expense is recognized in the consolidated statements of
operations ratably over the vesting period based on the number of instruments that are expected to ultimately vest. The
following table presents the assumptions used in valuing SARS granted during 2008 and 2007:

2008 2007
Weighted average fair value ...........c.o.o.ooveveeiinninicnce s by 408 § 9.85
Assumpticns used:
Expected dividend yield............cccocccivmrinciicee e esssneas 3% 2%
Expected volatility .........oooomiii e 40% 40%
Risk-free interBst TateS ..o eneaes e sensnns 2.5-3.7% 4.6%
EXPECIBA LIVES ..ottt et 5.5 Years 5.5 Years
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Changes in SARS for 2008 and 2007 are as follows (shares in thousands):

2008 _2007
Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Exercise Exercise
_Shares Price Shares Price
Outstanding, beginning of the year .............. 162 § 2726 — —
Granted........coeveveercrerorree s 500 13.02 242 27.01
Exercised.....ccooeinrenrininnicccens — — — -
Forfeited .......o.coovnmnerrvniniimeeeceee (69) 17.64 (81) 26.51
Outstanding, end of year ..., _ 593 § 1638 _ 161 § 2726 Z. 6
Exercisable, end of vear.........ccccocveernineenee 37 & 2731 — &

Information with respect to SARS outstanding at November 1, 2008 follows (shares in thousands):

Weighted Weighted
Average  Remaining Average
QOutstanding  Exercise Contractual Exercisable  Exercise
Range of Exercise Prices Shares Price Life Shares Price
$9.92 1431 s 453 3 1297 9.2 years — 3 —
$2641-29.12 ... 140 27.35 8.2 years 37 27.31
— 593 . ¥

The SARS outstanding at November 1, 2008 had no intrinsic value.

Restricted Stock and Performance Shares

Restricted stock is granted at fair value based on the closing stock price on the date of grant and vests ratably over four
years. Stock compensation expense is recognized in the consolidated statements of operations ratably over the vesting period
based on the number of instruments that are expected to ultimately vest.

Performance share awards permit the holder to receive, after a specified performance period, a number of shares of the
Company’s common stock for each performance share awarded. The number of shares of common stock to be received is
determined by a predetermined formula based on the extent to which the Company achieves certain performance criteria
specified in the award relative to a selected group of peer companies. The awards cliff vest at the end of the performance
period which is three years. The fair value of performance shares is determined by a third-party valuation specialist using a
Monte Carlo simulation model and stock compensation expense is recognized in the consolidated statements of operations
ratably over the vesting period based on the number of instruments that are expected to ultimately vest. In connection with the
Monte Carlo valuation, a risk-frec interest rate of 3.1% and 4.6% was used in 2008 and 2007, respectively, and a volatility of
40% in each of the years,

A summary of activity for restricted stock and performance shares during 2008 is as follows (shares in thousands):

Restricted Stock Performance Shares

Weighted Weighted

Average Average
Grant Date Grant Date
Shares Fair Vatue | _Shares Fair Value

Nonvested, beginning of the year................. i1 § 26.41 19 % 32.90
Granted.......oooveveeveeen e 288 13.60 123 9.08

Vested. ..o 3 26.41 — —
FOrfeited vt (27 15.77 (19) 14.06
Nonvested, end of Year.....cooocveceeeerernvnivcniens 284 & 1444 123 & 11.92
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The weighted average remaining requisite service periods for nonvested restricted stock and performance shares were
3.1 years and 1.9 years, respectively, as of Novemnber 1, 2008. The performance shares outstanding at November 1, 2008 had
no intrinsic value.

During 2008, the Company granted 30,000 shares of restricted stock with a fair value of $410 to non-employee directors.
These shares vested 15 days subsequent to their issuance and all stock compensation expense related to the awards was
recognized upon grant. In addition, during 2008, the Company granted 70,000 shares of restricted stock, which vests over three
years, with a value of $1,000 to its Chairman of the Board of Directors based on the closing stock price on the date of grant.

Restricted Stock Units

Restricted stock units, which have been awarded only to non-employee directors of the Company, provide the grantee the
right to receive one share of common stock per restricted unit at the end of the restricted period and to receive dividend
equivalents during the restricted period in the form of additional restricted stock units. The restricted period ends one year
after the director leaves the Board of Directors. During 2008, 2007 and 2006, the Company granted 991, 567, and 13,304
restricted stock units, respectively, to non-employee directors based on the fair value of the Company’s stock at the date of
grant. As of November 1, 2008, there were 26,873 restricted stock units outstanding.

Stock Options

During 2006, the Company granted stock options under the Plan which requires the exercise price of stock options to be
the fair value of the Company’s stock, at a minimum, at the date of grant. Under the Plan, up to 3 million shares of common
stock may be granted. Options are typically granted with lives of 10 years with graded vesting over 4 years. The estimated fair
values of stock option grants were computed using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Expected volatility was based on
historical periods commensurate with the expected life of options, and expected life was based on historical experience and
expected exercise patterns in the future. Stock-based compensation expense is recognized in the consolidated statements of
operations ratably over the vesting period based on the number of options that are expected to ultimately vest.

The weighted average fair value of stock options granted in 2006 was $7.78 per option and the weighted average
assumptions used in the Black-Scholes valuations for 2006 are as follows: risk-free interest rate of 4.37% to 4.72%, expected
volatility of 40%, expected dividend yield of 2% and expected life of 5.5 years.

Changes in stock options for 2008, 2007, and 2006 are as follows (shares in thousands):

2008 2007 2006

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Exercise Exercise Exercise

_Shares Price _Shares Price Shares Price

Qutstanding, beginning of the year............. 1,516 $ 21.83 2287 § 2143 2,177 5 2121
Granted .........coovmvvrirereee e resenens — — — — 368 21.51
Exercised ... ) 11.19 (447) 19.89 (181) 17.05
Forfeited ..........covvecriiicrererenininceeecnnns {238) 21.37 (324) 21.19 {17 22.29
Outstanding, end of year......cocovvvvssenn. 1,276 8§ 2194 __ 1,516 § 2183 _ 2287 § 2143
Exercisable, end of year...........ccooovcevencn. 1,124 § 2175 1,143 §  21.34 1,417 §__ 2089

Information with respect to options outstanding at November 1, 2008 follows (shares in thousands):

Weighted Weighted
Average  Remaining Average
Outstanding  Exercise Contractual Exercisable Exercise
Range of Exercise Prices Shares Price Life Shares Price
SHLI9—18.08 ... 254 § 1487 3.1 years 254 3 14.87
$2056-21.99 ..o 524 21.38 5.9 years 393 21.38
$2234-2500 .. 110 23.63 6.0 years 89 23.67
$2510-2894 .. 388 26.84 4.4 years 388 26.84
- 1276 — L1294
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The total intrinsic value, cash received and actual tax benefit realized for stock options exercised in 2008, 2007 and 2006 is
as follows:

2008 2007 2006
Stock options exercised .
INEEINSIC VAIUE. ... veeeeesssreeeceeoeeeeeeeesbesbssstassrerssnseeasersnsssstassresssnsesene sacssssasares $ 6 $ 3281 § 1,070
CaSH TECEIVEL .ot etes i s e eee et st s b resaba s e s sn e s st e e s sraar e mnsmns 17 8,449 2,990
Actual tax benefit realized ......o.cveeviveiiniieeceeei e e — 856 346

The stock options outstanding at November 1, 2008 had a remaining average term of 4.9 years, while the stock options
exercisable had a remaining average term of 4.6 years. Options outstanding had no intrinsic value, and as of
November 1, 2008, there was a total of $7,130 of unrecognized compensation cost for stock-based compensation awards, of
which the Company expects to recognize $6,080 as compensation expense, which is net of expected forfeitures. The
unrecognized compensation cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.4 years.

8) Former Chief Executive Officer’s Arrangement

During 2007, the Company entered into a Separation Agreement and Release (the “Separation Agreement”), with its
former President and Chief Executive Officer, George A. Abd, effective July 16, 2007 (the “Effective Date™). Mr. Abd
resigned as an officer and director of the Company as of the Effective Date, but remained an employee until October 14, 2007
(the “Termination Date™). During this period, Mr. Abd served the Company in an advisory capacity.

The Separation Agreement included various terms and conditions pertaining to Mr. Abd’s resignation from the Company.
The payments and benefits to be paid to Mr. Abd under the Separation Agreement include, but are not limited to, the following
major provisions:

o  Severance compensation in accordance with the terms of the Corporation’s Severance and Noncompetition Policy and
Agreement with Mr. Abd which is based on a multiple of his former annual salary and the average of his bonus
payments earned during the prior three fiscal years, totaling $2,224. Of this amount, $1,112 was paid in 2008, and the
remaining $1,112 will be paid in equal monthly installments through 2009.

e Compensation of $62 for the period between the Effective Date through the Termination Date at a rate of one-third of
Mr. Abd’s former annual salary.

o In accordance with the terms of the applicable stock option plans and agreements, 168,687 vested stock options were
exercisable until the Termination Date, and an additional 32,250 vested stock options will expire within three years of
the Termination Date and will remain exercisable until their stated expiration dates. All stock-based compensation
awards that were not vested as of the Termination Date were forfeited. As a result, $368 of stock-based compensation
expense was reversed as income during 2007 for awards that were previously expected to vest, but were forfeited.

The provisions of the Separation Agreement resulted in a $1,856 net charge to operating eamings in 2007, which
represents the $2,224 of severance less the $368 reversal of stock-based compensation during the third quarter and was
included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.

9) Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consisted of the foilowing at November 1, 2008 and November 3, 2007:

2008 2007
20060 SENIOT NOES ...veveeeeeiireeeeee e s resrtss s v s rrass e s s e eeres st seassesessasmnenmnsnsn $ 50,000 $ 50,000
2004 SENIOF NOES .....oviiiiiireserrs it ererserarressestesaesssarerassasasessserestssassressessssacs 150,000 150,000
Bank credit fACIHEES. .......covviveririereereerereesiesees e s snesaessnee et s ssesnns 41,600 91,400
Bank term JOan ... s s 19,113 28,822
OHRET......ceceereeerenee e re ettt bbb s st b s s e e ps e e g e 13,941 14,061

274,654 334,283
Less CUITENE MALUITEIES ..veceiivireicreiirnisieseesssissesasssneesressnusssessissossssstssinnnes 20,428 448

§ 254226 § 333,835
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In March 2008, the Company amended its revolving credit facility. The amendment was effective during the second and
third quarters of 2008 and automatically terminated if the Company did not meet certain covenants, including a minimum
adjusted Earnings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (“adjusted EBITDA™). Prior to the end of the third
quarter, the Company further amended this agreement to waive the Company's expected failure to comply with the minimum
adjusted EBITDA requirement. The Company entered into a 48-day waiver agreement to provide the necessary time to enter
into a longer term solution. The waiver agreement increased the interest rate on the outstanding borrowings under the
revolving credit agreement during the waiver period to LIBOR plus 3.50%, permanently reduced the aggregate commitments
under the revolving credit agreement to $175,000, with capacity during the waiver period limited to $150,000, and limited
dividends to $1,650 during any fiscal quarter.

Prior to the expiration of the waiver period, the Company amended its revolving credit agreement on September 10, 2008.
At the same time, the Company amended its 2006 Senior Notes, 2004 Senior Notes and Euro bank term loan. Under the
amendments, each facility is now secured with collateral which includes the Company’s accounts receivable, inventory,
machinery and equipment, and intangible assets. Capacity under the revolving credit agreement was reduced from $300,000 to
$145,000. This capacity could increase $30,000 if the Company meets certain financial performance metrics, but capacity will
be permanently reduced annually based on mandatory principal payments resulting from a percentage of excess cash flow,
After the excess cash flow payment in the first quarter of 2009, the Company’s availability under it bank credit facilities will be
permanently reduced by $10,112. At November 1, 2008, the unused portion of the credit facilities was $95,361, of which
$56,092 was available under the most restrictive covenant which will not be impacted by the 2009 excess cash flow payment.

Under the amendments, the Company is restricted from entering into any non-permitted acquisitions, repurchasing shares
of its common stock, paying dividends in excess of $1,650 per quarter and limits the amount the Company can spend for
capital expenditures. The leverage ratio has been amended to provide maximum leverage of 4.25 until January 30, 2009, 4.00
until July 31, 2009, 3.75 until January 29, 2010, and 3.50 thereafter. The amendment also included a new fixed charge
coverage ratio. The minimum fixed charge coverage ratio is 1.50 through fiscal 2009, 1.75 for the first and second quarters of
2010, and 2.25 thereafter,

On June 5, 2006, the Company completed a $50,000 private placement of 5.78% Senior Unsecured Notes, which are
payable on June 5, 2011. The 2006 Notes do not require annual principal payments other than the repayments resulting from a
percentage of excess cash flow realized by the Company. As described above, on September 10, 2008, the Company amended
this agreement and the interest rate increased to 6.82%. Interest is payable semiannually on December 5 and June 5 of each year.

On September 15, 2004, the Company completed a $150,000 private placement of 5.54% Senior Unsecured Notes over a
12-year term. The 2004 Notes require equal annual principal payments of $30,000 that commence on September 15, 2012 in
addition to the repayments resulting from a percentage of excess cash flow realized by the Company. As described above, on
September 10, 2008, the Company amended this agreement, and the interest rate increased to 6.58%. Interest is payable
semiannualty on March 15 and September 15 of each year.

On February 16, 2005, the Company entered into a 20,000 Euro bank term loan that matures on February 16, 2010. In
July 2008, the Company paid 5,000 Euro ($7,876 U.S.) of principal on this bank loan. As described above, on
September 10, 2008, the Company amended this agreement. Interest on the term loan is payable monthly at a floating rate
chosen by the Company equal o either the one-month, three-month, or six-month EURIBO rate plus a 2.25% borrowing
margin. At November 1, 2008, the 15,000 Euro term loan was outstanding at a rate of 7.15%.

Under the amendments, the Company is required to pay a ratable percentage of iis excess cash flow (as defined in the
agreements) io the lenders of the bank credit agreement, the 2006 senior noteholders, the 2004 senior noteholders and the Euro
bank term loan noteholders. Based on the Company’s results in the fourth quarter of 2008, it will be required to make a
$19,267 payment in first quarter 2009 and this amount is classified as current maturities of long-term debt. For 2009 and
thereafter, the Company will continue to be required to pay the principal on these debt agreements based on the percentage of
its annual excess cash flow until such obligations are paid in full,

The Company is not required to make any other principal payments on its bank credit facility, the 2006 Senior Notes, the
2004 Senior Notes, or the Euro bank term tean within the next year except the excess cash flow payments discussed above,
Borrowings under these facilities are classified as long term because the Company has the ability and intent to keep the
balances outstanding over the next 12 months,
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At November 1, 2008, the Company had one-month LIBOR-based loans outstanding under the bank credit facilities of
$20,000 at 6.84% and $20,000 at 5.47%, and additional prime-based borrowings of $1,609 at 5.25%. At November 3, 2007,
the Company had LIBOR-based loans outstanding under the bank credit facilities of $75,200 at 5.7% and $13,000 at 5.4%, and
additional borrowings of $3,200 at the prime rate of 7.5%. In addition to the outstanding loans, the bank credit facility was
also partially utilized by several standby letters of credit amounting to $8,039 at November 1, 2008.

The Company’s other debt consists primarily of industrial revenue bonds and capital lease obligations utilized to finance
capital expenditures. These financings mature between 2009 and 2019 and have interest rates ranging from 2.0% to 12.5%.

Scheduled maturities of long-term debt for the next five years and thereafter are:

Year Ended Maturities

100 L 2TV U U P T OO TP RS $ 20,428
10 1 L0 T U OO OO U U U T T U OO U U PO PP OR PO ORI 17,931
L1} 18 (OO T OU OO PO POTRPOTON 87,728
1 1] 1 S OO PP 30,551
0.1 0] 1 TR RO U U U PO PO OO OO OO VPP UTOt 30,475
TR ATERT v vt eeeee e cictee s sitee s e e e seaaes s e sabmaaa e seseemeeessabe e s s b bt aa b b ant s bn s e e e R b aannreesannnssaes 87.541

§ 274,654

While the Company currently expects to be in compliance with its covenants in the next twelve months, the Company’s
failure to comply with the covenants or other requirements of financing arrangements is an event of default and could result in,
among other things, acceleration of the payment of our indebtedness, which could adversely impact our business, financial
condition, and results of operations.

10) Shareholders’ Equity

The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of 55 million shares of $.75 par value common stock and 4 million
shares of $1 par value preferred stock. At November 1, 2008, the Company had 33 million common shares issued and
2.6 million shares of common stock were held in treasury shares, primarily for issuance under the Company’s stock-based
compensation plans. During 2008, 236,802 common stock shares were issued from treasury, of which 200,000 of these shares
were sold to the Chairman of the Board of Directors. By prior agreement, the price per share was equal to the New York Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s common stock on the date of sale, which was $14.06.

In September 2007, The Company’s Board of Directors approved the repurchase of up to 2 million shares of the
Company’s stock. As part of this plan, the Company acquired 524,000 and 1,456,700 shares in 2008 and 2007, respectively.
As discussed in Note 9, no further repurchases are allowed under the Company’s amended debt agreements dated
September 10, 2008.

The Company has a Shareholder Rights Plan in which Rights trade with, and are inseparable from, each share of common
stock. Prior to exercise, a Right does not give its holder any dividend, voting, or liquidation rights. 1f a new person or group
acquires beneficial ownership of 15% or more of the Company’s common stock, a Right may be exercised to purchase one
one-thousandth of a share of Series Z Preferred Stock for $70 per share. The Rights will expire on April 2, 2011 and may be
redeemed by the Company for $.01 per Right at any time before a new person or group becomes a beneficial owner of 15% or
more of the Company’s outstanding common stock.

11} Income Taxes

Earnings (loss) before income taxes consist of the following:

2008 2007 2006
UNIted SHAIES ...ooveverrrerriveieseeeemeeneneeseseisiessresmissnasssssenssenns $ (237383) % 51,605 % 56,254
Non-U.S. 0perations ... (11,523) 3,205 8.684

§ (248,906) § 54810 $ 64,938
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The provision for (benefit from) income taxes for 2008, 2007, and 2006 is comprised of the following:

2008 2007 2006
Current:
Federal ..ot $ 57 % 14390 $% 16,294
State and 10cal......cciiiiecnni e (1,144) 2,119 1,978
FOTBIEN. oot emes bbbt 1,454 2.399 4,810
Total current ..o 367 18,908 23,082
Deferred:
Federal ... rerare s (47,528) 1,37 4,039
State and local.......cccovvvrvvermrrnci e (7,592) 167 594
FOT@IZN...... ittt sttt (2,041) 518 (1,575)
Total deferred ... (57,161) 2,056 3.058
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes et S (56,794) § 20964 S 26,140

The income tax provision (benefit) of the Company differs from the amounts computed by applying the U.S. Federal tax
rate of 35% as follows:

2008 2007 2006

Federal income tax provision (benefit) at statutery rate........ $§ @111 3 19,184 § 22,728
State income taxes, net of applicable federal income tax

benefit... {4,748) 1,485 1,672
[mpamnent of non-deductlble goodwnll 34,508 — 1,106
Foreign valuation allowance ...........ccooovveeevereencncvccconnnnnnn, 3,078 944 541
Net changes in FIN 48 llabllltles/reserve .............................. (1,764) — —
Expensing of stock options ........ccccoevnreirrenneneneneeiinana, 184 260 380
Manufacturing deduction ...........ceceeveviererecesreninneneeecnaneen, (126) (477) (468)
Research and development tax credit.......cccocenvinnnniciennnnnne. (500) (989) (74)
OHHET ...ttt b b e (309 557 255

8 __(56794) 3 _ 20964 § 26,140

The increase in tax expense from the impairment of goodwill represents the portion of goodwill impairments that were not
deductible for tax purposes. For fiscal year 2006, the Company recorded a partial benefit for research and development tax
credits since this credit expired on December 31, 2005. In December 2006, the government approved legislation that extended
the credit retroactively. As a result, the Company recognized this benefit in the first quarter of 2007, In September 2008, the
government approved legislation that extended the credit retroactively to the Company's 2008 tax year,

The increase in tax benefit from the impairment of goodwill represents the portion of goodwill impairments that were not
deductible for tax purposes. The Company did not record the benefit of a research and development tax credit during 2006, as
this credit expired on December 31, 2005. In December 2006, the government approved legislation that extended the credit
retroactively. As a result, the Company recognized this benefit in the first quarter of 2007. In September 2008, the government
approved legislation that extended the credit retroactively to the Company's 2008 tax year.

At November 1, 2008 and November 3, 2007, the Company’s principal components of deferred tax assets and liabilities
consisted of the following:

2008 2007
Deferred tax assets:

Employee benefits and compensation.........ceveeeeeerevesecnieneeseseeennronnnes 3 5118 §% 3,956
WOTKErS® COMPENSALION .....c.eeeeieeeerrriveeteteceeeeeee e ste s sseraensssteseeseasemsensatereen 1,385 1,368
Inventory capitalization and reServes......c...cccoveeeeenieccccceeeseeeens 1,414 1,525
Reserve for product TEIUIMS...........eeeeciiennirrieseese e s s e e e e aressenesens 950 782
Deferred compensation benefit plans........cooivevnrenceinesrssenesesessenenes 732 978
Bad debt TESEIVES ...oove it e e s a st 1,831 624
Foreign net operating loSS.......c.ccccvieicreecernrennininenenirssnesnsereorersssessssssnsnsenes 3,034 3,072
Valuation alloWance ...........ccceivninniiresessinie st s s e s (5,332) (2,587)
Other... - 2,107 930
Total deferred tax assets ........................................................................... $ 11839 $ 10,648
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2008 2007
Goodwill and other imangibles. ... (4,230) (53,393)
Inventory capitalization and TESEIVES......cuieeueiiisisserssiessssse s (1,339) (1,189)
OUBET «..eveveveee e eserstoneesesese e essbassssssaeeseaessesese s sasacamee st sas b s e ma s an A s s 52 e s nrnns s {93) {801)
Total deferred tax HabILLEs ......ocovvrevrninisivee st $  (56,700) 3 (114.391)
Net deferred income tax Hability wo..oovvnviiiecee e §  (44861) $_ (103,743)

At November {, 2008 and November 3, 2007, the net current deferred tax asset was $11.,655 and $8,254, respectively, and
the net noncurrent deferred tax liability was $56,516 and $111,997, respectively.

As of November 1, 2008, no deferred income taxes or foreign withholding taxes have been provided on the $48,329 in
accumulated earnings of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries that are not subject to United States income tax. The Company’s
intention is to reinvest these earnings indefinitely. If the Company changed its intentions or if such earnings were remitted to
the United States, as of November 1, 2008, the Company would be required to recognize approximately $7,000 to $8,700 of
additional income tax expense.

As of November 1, 2008, the Company had approximately $18,129 in net operating losses and gross deferred tax assets
which related to the France and Mexico operations. The Company assessed the likelihood as to whether or not the benefit of
these net operating losses and deferred tax assets would be realized based on the amount of positive and negative evidence
available. The Company determined that a valuation allowance of $15,997 was required for the amount of these assets that
cannot be carried back or utilized through tax planning strategies. These assets do not expire and would be realized upon
consistent future earnings that are sustained over a period of time.

On November 4, 2007, the Company adopted the provisions of FIN 48, FIN 48 addresses the accounting for uncertain tax
positions that a company has taken or expects to take on a tax retum. As a result of the implementation of FIN 48, the Company
recognized an increase in total unrecognized tax benefits of $120 and accounted for this increase as a cumulative effect of a
change in accounting principle, which resulted in a decrease to retained eamings. As of the date of adoption, the Company had
net unrecognized tax benefits of $2,78% ($3,325 gross unrecognized tax benefits) recorded in accrued liabilities and other
liabilities (long term) on the consolidated balance sheet, which includes interest and penalties. If none of these liabilities are

| ultimately paid, income tax expense would be reduced by $2,789, which would lower the Company's effective tax rate.

|
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property, plant and eqUIPMENt.......ccevveiiniereniinsccinerc s $  (51,038) §  (59,008)

| The amount of net unrecognized tax benefits as of November 1, 2008 was $889 (81,021 gross unrecognized tax benefits),

! which includes interest and penalties. If none of these liabilities are ultimately paid, income tax expense would be reduced by

| $889, which would lower the Company's effective tax rate. The primary difference between gross unrecognized tax benefits
and net unrecognized tax benefits is the U.S. federal tax benefit from state tax deductions. The following table shows the
activity related to gross unrecognized tax benefits excluding interest and penalties during fiscal year ended November 1, 2008.

2008

Unrecognized tax benefits, beginning of year............cccecocc. $ 2,465
Additions based on current year tax positions.........ccceevne 239
Additions for prior year 1ax positions.......cccooreeiee e, 290

! Reductions for prior year tax positions........cccoeevieinininnnn (623)
Settlements with tax authorities. ... (342)
Lapses in statutes of HMitations ... {1,255)
Unrecognized tax benefits, end of year ... s 74

Upon adoption of FIN 48, the Company changed its accounting policy to include interest and penalties related to income
taxes in income tax expense. Prior to the adoption of FIN 48, interest was included within interest expense, and penalties were
included within selling, general and administrative expenses. As of the date of adoption of FIN 48, the Company had accrued
approximately $631 for the payment of interest and penalties relating to unrecognized tax benefits recorded in accrued
liabilities and other tabilities {long-term) on the consolidated balance sheet. The related accrual for interest and penalties as of
November 1, 2008 was $202.

41




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
{Dolltars in thousands, except per share amounts)

The Company is currently the subject of several income tax audits in multiple jurisdictions. The Company expects that
within the next 12 months, it will reach closure on certain of these audits. Under the assumption that these audits are settled
within the next 12 months, it is anticipated that the gross unrecognized tax benefits will decrease by $278.

The Company files U.S. federal, U.S. state, and foreign income tax returns. The Internal Revenue Service completed its
examination through 2006; nevertheless, the statutes of limitations for U.S. federal income tax returns are open for fiscal year

2005 and forward. For state and foreign returns, the Company is generally no longer subject to tax examinations for years
prior to 2002,

12) Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Basic earnings (loss} per share excludes any dilution and is computed by dividing net earmings (loss) available to common
stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted eamings (loss) per share
refiects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue commeon stock were exercised or converted
into common stock or resulted in the issuance of common stock that then shared in the eamnings of the entity,

The reconciliation of the net earnings (loss) and weighted average number of common shares used in the computations of
basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share for 2008, 2007, and 2006 was as follows (shares in thousands):

2008 2007 2006
Loss Shares  Earnings Shares Earnings  Shares
Basic earnings (loss) per share computation...... $ (192,112) 30,264 § 33,846 31,966 3 38,798 32,092
Dilutive shares ..........ccevreeecicvrnnniiceieccrnrne — 214 — 205

Diluted earnings (loss) per share computation.... § (192,112) __ 30264 3 33,846 32180 3 38798 _ 32,297

The effect of dilutive shares represents the shares resulting from the assumed exercise of outstanding SARS and stock
options as well as the assumed vesting of restricted stock, restricted stock units and performance shares. The dilution from
each of these instruments is calculated using the treasury stock method. In 2008, all outstanding equity compensation
instruments were excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share because they were antidilutive.

13) Employee Benefits

The Company sponsers or contributes to various defined contribution retirement benefit and savings plans covering
substantially all employees. The total cost of such plans for 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $2,050, $3,358, and 32,827,
respectively.

14) Cash Flow and Other Information

Supplemental information on cash flows for 2008, 2007, and 2006 was as follows:

2008 2007 2006
Cash paid during the year for:
(0 1 SO SOOI § 18829 § 16586 $§ 19,801
INCOME LAKES .ovvvvirericrrire v rirreressree e essnessssnreeneee e raenrnrens 257 21,838 23,809
Schedule of business and outsourcing acquisitions:
Fair value of assets acquired ..o $ 187 $ 78,033 3§ —
Liabilities assumed........ccccooovineciemeeeecceccnsenene 605 (16,662) —
Purchase price adjustments ...........c.ccccvvvvrenniisieceneenas — — —
Total cash paid ..o b 792 § 61,371 § —
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15) Commitments and Contingencies

The Company conducts certain of its operations in facilities under operating leases. Rental expense in 2008, 2007, and
2006, was $10,197, $10,118 and $10,699, respectively. Future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating
leases, by year, are as follows:

Operating
Year Ended Leases
L T OSSO PC TSSO PO P S PPV $ 6,974
1] (TGO OO Oy O PO PSP TSP TS PSSR S RO 4,264
L] 3 PO OO UTS VOO PO OO PP PO TP RIS ST S RN 2,729
11 ) OO VOO OO PP PO ORI TP ISP 1,115
T e Z OO OO OO OO U PSS F T VP IS PTRTETRI RO 706
TRETEATIET c..c..oeeeevete sttt ete s sttt e e eeem s bsd R b b bR et R et e 200
§ 15988

in September 2003, the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection issued a directive and the United States
Environmental Protection Agency (“USEPA”) initiated an investigation related to over 70 companies, including a Spartech
subsidiary, regarding the Lower Passaic River. The subsidiary subsequently agreed to participate in a group of over 40
companies in funding an environmental study by the USEPA to determine the extent and source of contamination at this site.
In 2006, the USEPA asked the group to assume the responsibility for completing the study, and in the fourth quarter of 2006,
the Company recorded a $627 charge in selling, general and administrative expense primarily for the subsidiary’s expected
funding to complete the study. In 2008 and 2007, the Company paid $111 and $138, respectively, toward the study. As of
November 1, 2008 and November 3, 2007, the Company had $500 and $607, respectively, accrued related to its share of the
funding and related legal expenses. The Company expects the group’s commitment to be funded for the next five years, the
expected time frame to complete the study. Due to uncertainties inherent in this matter, management is unable to estimate the
Company’s potential exposure, including possible remediation or other environmental responsibilities that may result from this
matter, which is not expected to occur for a number of years. These uncertainties primarily include the completion and
outcome of the environmental study and the percentage of contamination attributable to the subsidiary and other parties. Itis
possible that the ultimate liability resulting from this issue could materially differ from the November 1, 2008 accrual balance.
In the event of one or more adverse determinations related to this issue, the impact on the Company’s results of operations
could be material to any specific period. However, the Company’s opinion is that future expenditures for compliance with
these laws and regulations, as they relate to the Lower Passaic River issue and other potential issues, will not have a material
effect on the Company’s capital expenditures, financial position, or competitive position.

The Company is also subject to various other claims, lawsuits, and administrative proceedings arising in the ordinary
course of business with respect to commercial, product liability, employment, and other matters, several of which claim
substantial amounts of damages. While it is not possible to estimate with certainty the ultimate legal and financial liability
with respect to these claims, lawsuits, and administrative proceedings, the Company believes that the outcome of these other
matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

16) Segment Information

The Company utilizes operating earnings (loss) excluding the impact of foreign exchange to evaluate business segment
and group performance and determine the allocation of resources. To improve the evaluation of this performance measure, the
Company changed its reporting of segment results in 2008 to exclude the impact of foreign currency exchange gains and losses
because these amounts primarily result from intercompany balances between segments. The Company’s segment reporting
was also changed to no longer allocate certain information systems and professional fee expenses to segment operating results.
Accordingly, the Company’s segment operating results below are presented in this manner, which is consistent with
management's evaluation metrics, and years presented have been changed to conform to the current year presentation.

Segment and group accounting policies are the same as policies described in Note 1. A description of the Company’s
reportable segments and group follows:

Custom Sheet and Rollstock — This segment manufactures extruded plastic sheet, custom rollstock, laminates, and cell

cast acrylic sheet in North America. Its finished products are formed by its customers for use in a wide variety of markets.
This segment operates throughout North America and has one plant in Europe.
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Packaging Technologies — This segment provides various packaging solutions including clamshells, blisters, tubs, lids and
display packaging. Its finished products are used by its customers to distribute, ship, protect and display their products. This
segment operates throughout North America.

Color and Specialty Compounds — This segment manufactures custom-designed plastic alloys, compounds, color
concentrates, and calendered film for utilization in numerous applications. This segment’s facilities comprise operating
segments that are aggregated into a reportable segment based on the nature of the products manufactured. This segment
operates throughout North America and has one plant in Europe,

Engineered Products — This group manufactures a number of proprietary items including injection molded products,
complete thermoplastic wheels and tires, and profile extruded products. This group of operating segments has facilities located
throughout North America and is combined because each operating segment does not meet the materiality threshold for
separate disclosure.

Corporate operating losses include corporate office expenses, information technology costs, professional fees, and the
impact of foreign currency exchange that are not allocated to the reportable segments and group. Corporate assets consist
primarily of property, plant and equipment and deferred taxes.

2008 2007 2006
Net sales:
Custom Sheet and RollStock. ...........ovovveeeeeevee e eeeeeee s $ 637,114 $ 674,751 $ 709,098
Packaging Technologies. ... 274,363 253,718 233,959
Color and Specialty Compounds.........cccceevnnnicinncnnnninnns 414,037 446,804 462,987
Engineered Products........oovoocviiiiiiie e 73.379 76,710 79.553
1308893 $1451983 $1485,597
Operating earnings (loss):
Custom Sheet and Rollstock.. ..o $ (100,128) $ 44,189 3 54,342
Packaging TechnolOgies........ccccoiimmmniircrmrervnesenerscsresnererasnneees 18,808 26,121 26,106
Color and Specialty Compounds...........cccoecvccuerinnrieicciiins (97,954) 23,144 28,345
Engineered Products......coovive e (13,297) 9,625 4,494
COTPOTALE .. cvreveve et vesvase e e e esrerssbare e s s enesare s e sesessenrebsnee (35.761) (30.640) (21,863)
$(228332) § 72439 § 01424
Assets:
Custom Sheet and Rollstock......cc.ocoooeeiiiniiiiecceccrc $ 280907 $ 396,474 $% 396,959
Packaging Technologies. ..o 207,427 239377 161,187
Color and Specialty Compounds..........ccccccovvvervinierrcrrireennnne. 190,196 362,651 174,754
Engineered Products.....coooii e 45,763 72,212 73,583
COPOPALR . cvevereeeoeeiieeet et es e sss e st e s nes et rsse b rase e 38.126 40,157 35311
$ 762,419 $1,110871 31,041,794
Depreciation and amortization:
Custom Sheet and Rollstock.. ..o ivvreievereriicionenenerenenenens $§ 15159 § 14993 S 14,634
Packaging Technologies........cooneceiimirnieneciecis e 9,172 3,780 5,416
Cotor and Specialty Compounds.........coccevvrmerervnnnricinvierenes 14,569 14,677 14,410
Engineered Products..........ccocivivccenciacimnnnimnineveseinissieseenes 3,171 3,333 3,317
COTPOTALE ..ot rrsoe et e 5,130 4.286 2,921
$ 47201 §_ 43069 3 40698
Capital expenditures:
Custom Sheet and RolIStOCK......cvvevrvverivieimrenieeresneeinsnes $ 5393 $ 14594 % 8,398
Packaging Technologies........ccvvivicrminrnniminiineeeeciniiee s 2,073 4,048 3,249
Color and Specialty Compounds............ccocoeeevnniverneneininnnnn. 4,351 4,514 5,525
Engineered Products. ... aeninenssaseseesssesss 1,197 1,692 1,634
COTPOTALE ..ottt ettt er b ses e r s saabaseenin 4,262 9,895 5,160

§ 17276 S 34,743 § 23,066

In addition to external sales to customers, intersegment sales were $57,041, $52,987, and $58,427 in 2008, 2007, and
2006, respectively. Most intersegment sales were generated from the Color and Specialty Compounds segment.
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Geographic financial information for 2008, 2007, and 2006 was as follows:

Net Sales By Destination Property, Plant and Equipment. Net
2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006
United States .........oove.. $ 1,154,360 $ 1,203,204 $ 1,234,160 $ 236,400 $ 272,506 § 258,394
MEeXICO..cvrreniirinns 110,209 98,708 86,084 20,414 18,537 15,489
Canada.......cooocneennns 79,497 92,121 104,216 14,087 20,731 19,179
EUTOpe oo 42,929 45,792 49,560 9,301 12,251 11,717
Asia and other.............. 11,898 12,158 11,577 —

T imsss S 1A5Lof) 51485597 S FM0Z0 L1405 53047

17) Quarterly Financial Information

Certain unaudited quarterly financial information for the years ended November 1, 2008 and November 3, 2007 was

as follows:
Quarter
lst znd 3rd 4lh Year
2008
NEt SAIES vt $335,106 $367,347 $350,345 $346,095 $1,398,893
Gross profit (@)......ccocevveimvmcniiniinnne 21,776 34,899 33417 30,597 120,689
Operating earnings (loss) (b) ..o (1,587 11,911 10,742 (249,398) (228,332)
Net earnings (1055) (b)....ccocoivininiersnnnanes (3,490) 4,365 4,410 (197,397) (192,112)
Net earnings (loss) per share — basic...... (.12} 14 .15 (6.51) (6.35)
— diluted... (.12) 14 15 (6.51) (6.35)
Dividends declared per common share ... 135 135 05 05 37
2007 (c)
Net 5ales.... .ot $347,254 $377,368 $361,123 $366,238  $1,451,983
Gross profit (B) .cveeeeeniiicrieees 38,025 49,555 35,908 30,043 157,531
Operating earnings (d) .....ooooeveiniinenne 17,428 29,553 18,439 7,019 72,439
Net earnings {d) ....cococooooiminninininins 8,065 15,710 8,806 1,265 33,846
Net earnings per share — basic .......co...... 25 49 27 .04 1.06
— diluted............. 25 49 27 .04 1.05
Dividends declared per common share... 135 135 135 135 .54

Notes to table:

(a)
)

(d)

Gross profit is calculated as net sales less cost of sales and amortization expense.

Operating eamnings (loss) and net earnings (loss) in the first quarter of 2008 were impacted by a charge of $2,681 ($1,651 net of tax) for an inventory
valuation reserve due 10 management’s decision to liquidate certain inventory to accelerate cash. Operating earnings (loss) and net earnings {loss) in the
fourth quarter of 2008 were impacted by charges of $238,641 for goodwill impairments ($185,158 net of tax) and $15,431 (812,282 net of tax) for fixed
asset and other intangible assel impairments.

As discussed in Note 1, 2007 was reported as a 53-week fiscal year containing 371 days of activity. The additional week was reported in the first quarter
ended February 3, 2007.

Operating earnings and net earnings in the third quarter of 2007 were impacted by a charge of $1,856 ($1,147 net of tax) refated to a separation
agreement with the Company’s former Chief Executive Officer. Operating earnings and net earnings in the fourth quarter of 2007 were impacted by
charges of $1,550 ($960 net of tax) related to an intangible asset impairment, $2,057 ($1,275 net of tax) related Lo an inventory error identified by a new
system implementation and $1,268 ($1,268 net of tax) related to a change in estimate of inventory valuation reserves due to management’s decision te
liquidate certain scrap inventory.
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Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING
AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Spartech maintains a system of disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to
be disclosed by the Company in the reports filed under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified under the SEC’s rules and forms. Based on an evaluation
performed, the Company’s certifying officers have concluded that the disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of
November 1, 2008 to:

a) ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports filed or submitted under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within time periods specified in Securities and Exchange
Commission rules and forms; and

b) ensure that information is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, there can be no assurance that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures will
detect or uncover all failures of persons within the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries to report material information
otherwise required to be set forth in the Company’s reports,

The Company is in the process of implementing a new Oracle/Business Process Improvement ERP system.
Implementation began in 2006 and is scheduled to be substantially complete in 2009. As the Company continues to implement
the new ERP system, it expects that there will be future improvements in internal controls as a result of this implementation.
As of November 1, 2008, 25 manufacturing facilities had implemented the new ERP system, which resulted in certain changes
and enhancements to the Company’s internal controls. This ERP system, along with the internal controls over financial
reporting impacted by the implementation, were appropriately tested for design effectiveness. While some processes and
controls will continue to evolve as the implementation progresses, existing controls and the controls affected by the
implementation of the new system were evaluated as appropriate and effective. There were no other changes to internal
controls during the year ended November 1, 2008, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect,
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s report on internal control over financial reporting, and the related report of the Company’s independent
registered public accounting firm, Emst & Young LLP, are included in ltem 8.

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART II1

Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Directors

The information concerning Directors of the Company contained in the section entitled “Proposal 1: Election of Directors”
of the Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on or about March 11, 2009 (“the
Proxy Statement™), to be filed with the Commission on or about February 9, 2009, is incorporated herein by reference in
response to this [tem.

Audit Committee

The information regarding the Audit Committee and Audit Committee financial expert is contained in the sections entitled
“Board of Directors” and “Committees” of the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference in response to this Item.

Code of Ethics

The Board of Directors has established specific Corporate Governance Guidelines, a Code of Ethics for the Chief Executive
Officer and Senior Financial Officers, and a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for all directors, officers and employees.
These documents are provided on the Company’s Web site at www.spartech.com within the Investor Relations/Corporate
Governance section of the site. We intend to satisfy our disclosure requirements under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding an
amendment to, or a waiver from, a provision of our Code of Ethics that applics to our Senior Financial Officers and that relates
to any element of the code of ethics definition enumerated in Item 406(b) of Regulation S-K by posting such information on our
Web site. At this same Web site location, the Company provides an Ethics Hotline phone number that aliows employees,
shareholders, and other interested parties to communicate with the Company’s management or Audit Committee (on an
anonymous basis, if so desired) through an independent third-party hotline. In addition, this same Web site location provides
instructions for shareholders or other interested parties to contact the Company’s Board of Directors.

The rules of the NYSE require Mr. Odaniell, our President and Chief Executive Officer, to certify to the NYSE annually
that he is not aware of any violation by the Company of the NYSE’s corporate governance listing standards. In addition,
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Mr. Odaniell and Mr. Martin, our Chief Financial Officer, must
each execute a certificate as to the quality of our public disclosure as part of our quarterly and annual reports to the SEC. Their
latest Section 302 certifications are filed with the SEC as exhibits to this Form 10-K.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Information regarding Section 16(a) beneficial ownership reporting compliance is contained in the section entitled
“Section 16{a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” of the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Recommendation of Director Nominees by Shareholders

There have been no material changes during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 to the procedures by which shareholders may
recommend director nominees to our Board of Directors.
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Executive Officers of the Registrant

The following table provides certain information about the Company's executive officers, their positions with the
Company, and their prior business experience and employment for at least the past five years:

Name Age  Current Office, and Prior Positions and Employment

Myles S. Odaniell 49 President and Chief Executive Officer (since January 2008). Prior to joining the
Company, Mr. Odaniell was previously with Chemtura Corporation from 2003 to 2006,
where he held the position of Executive Vice President of Specialty Chemicals and
Executive Vice President Plastics and Petroleurn Additives. Prior to Chemtura
Corporation, Mr. Odaniell was a Business Unit President of Cytec Industries after
moving into positions of increasing responsibility in sales, marketing, planning, and
general management (1981 — 2002).

Randy C. Martin 46 Executive Vice President (since September 2000} Corporate Development (since May
2004) and Chief Financial Officer (since May 1996). Interim President and Chiefl
Executive Officer from July 2007 to January 2008: Vice President, Finance from May
1996 to September 2000; Corporate Controller from September 1995 to May 1996. Mr.
Martin, a CPA and CMA, was with KPMG Peat Marwick LLP for 1t years before
joining the Company in 1995,

Steven J. Ploeger 47 Executive Vice President Custom Sheet and Rollstock and Engineered Products (since
May 2004); Vice President Spartech Plastics from 2000 to 2004; General Manager
Spartech Plastics — North Region from 1996 to 2000. Mr. Ploeger also held various sales
management positions with the Company from 1985 to 1996.

Michael L. Marcum 60 Senior Vice President Color and Specialty Compounds (since April 2006). Mr. Marcum
was most recently President and Chief Executive Officer of American Decorative Surfaces
Inc. from 2001 to 2006, and with Monsanto Company for 29 years in various general
management, corporate strategic planning, and sales and marketing executive positions,
both domestically as well as internationally, before joining the Company in 2006.

Janet E. Mann 54 Senior Vice President of Marketing, Technology and Commercial Development (since
June 2008). Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Mann was General Manager, Industrial
Chemicals at Archer Daniels Midland Corporation in Decatur, Illinois. Prior to Archer
Daniels Midland Corporation, Ms. Mann held various executive roles at Chemtura
Corporation, The Dow Chemical Company, and ANGUS Chemicals, Inc.

Michael L. Roane 53 Senior Vice President of Human Resources (since June 2008). Prior to joining the Company,
Mr. Roane was the Senior Vice President of Human Resources at the Sage Software
Healthcare Division. Prior to Sage, Mr. Roane spent 10 years at Greif Brothers Corporation
where he held the position of Senior Vice President of Global Human Resources and
Communications. Mr. Roane previously held various Vice President and Human Resource
roles at Owens & Minor, Inc., and Philip Morris, Inc.

Marc A. Roberts 46 Senior_Vice President of Operations (since October 2008), Vice President of Sheet
Operations _(2006-2008).  Mr. Roberts previously held positions as Manufacturing

Consultant with a private equity group (2005-2006), President and Director of
Aerostructures at Precision Castparts Corporation (2001-2005), and various positions at
Johnson Controls, Inc. and Price Corporation (1993-2001).

Michael G. Marcely 41 Vice President of Financial Planning & Analysis (since April 2008), Vice President and
Corporate Controller (since July 2004) and Assistant Secretary (since June 2005),
Director of Internal Audit (January 2003 to July 2004). Mr. Marcely, a CPA, was with
Ernsi & Young LLP for four years, Emerson Electric for four years and KPMG LLP for
six years before joining the Company in 2003.

Philtip M. Karig 53 Vice President and Chief Procurement Officer (since May 2008); Vice President-
Purchasing _and Supply Chain Management_ (since September 2001), Director of
Purchasing from February 2000 to_September 2001, Mr. Karig was with Uniroyal
Technology Corporation for 12 years in various purchasing, logistics, and materials
management positions before joining the Company in February 2000.
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Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information contained in the sections entitled “Executive Compensation;” “Compensation of Directors;”
“Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation;™ and “Report of the Compensation Committee” of the Proxy
Statement is incorporated herein by reference in response to this Item.

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP _OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT, AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information contained in the sections entitled “Security Ownership™ and “Equity Compensation Plan Information” of
the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference in response to this Item.

Jtem 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information contained in the sections entitled “Proposal 1: Election of Directors” and “Certain Business Relationships
and Transactions” of the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference in response to this Item.

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information contained in the section entitled “Fees Paid to Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm™ of the
Proxy Staterment is incorporated herein by reference in response to this Item.
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PART IV

Item 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules

(1) and (2) The following financial statements and financial statement schedule are included in this Form 10-K:

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting........cccoveeee. 21
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.......o.ooeveeeervrvisannnnn, 22

Financial Statements

Consolidated Balance Sheets .........ccooouieeeecoviiiiieiece et erens 24
Consolidated Statements of Operations ...........c.c.ocovvvcvnneeeeeiiivreseneerenins 25
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity.........ccoeevieccvvcccvneees. 26
Consolidated Statements of Cash FIOWS .....c.ccoccviiviiieccrenisiiiineseenes 27
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.........ccccoevnvvininnicivcncsiniennns, . 28
Schedule I - Valuation and Qualifying ACCOUNts...........ceuecveriviicicecinisieeceeanae E-1

(3) The Exhibits required to be filed as part of this annual report on Form 10-K are listed under (¢} below.

(b) The Exhibits required to be filed as part of this annual report on Form 10-K are listed under (c) below.

(c) Exhibits

The Exhibits required to be filed by Item 601(a} of Regulation S-K are included as follows:

Exhibit
Number Description Location
31 Certificate of Incorporation, as currently in | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to
effect the Company's Form 10-Q filed with the
Commission on June 8, 2006
32 By-Laws, as currently in effect Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to
the Company’s current report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on July 2, 2008
4 Rights Agreement dated April 2, 2001 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1
between Spartech Corporation and Mellon | to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the
Investor Services LLC, as Rights Agent Commission on April 5, 2001
10.1 Separation Agreement and Release dated Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.01
July 16, 2007 between the Company and of the Company's Form 8-K filed with the
George A. Abd Commission on July 16, 2007
10.2 Form of Indemnification Agreement Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
entered into between the Company and each | to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with
of its officers and directors the Commission on September 11, 2008
10.3 Spartech Corporation 2006 Executive Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.01(a)
Bonus Plan to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the
Commission on December 21, 2005
10.4 Spartech Corporation Deferred Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 5.02
Compensation Plan, as amended to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the
Commission on December 20, 2007
10.5 Spartech Corporation 2004 Equity Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 5.02(2)
Compensation Plan, as amended to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the
Commission on December 7, 2006
10.6 Spartech Corporation Long-Term Equity Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 5.02(1)
Incentive Program to the Company’s Form 8-K ftled with the
Commission on December 7, 2006
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10.7 Form of Incentive Stock Option Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.01(2)
to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the
Commission on December 14, 2004
10.8 Form of Nongqualified Stock Option Incorporated by reference to 1.01(3) to the
Company’s Form 8-K filed with the
Commission on December 14, 2004
10.9 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.01(4)
(directors) to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the
Commission on December 14, 2004
10.10 Form of Restricted Stock Award (directors) | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7
to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with
the Commission en March 12, 2007
10.11 Form of Restricted Stock Award Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 5.02(1)
to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the
Commission on December 21, 2006
10.12 Form of Stock-Settled Stock Appreciation Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 5.02(2)
Right Award to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the
Commission on December 21, 2006
10.13 Form of Performance Share Award Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 5.02(1)
to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the
Commission on November 21, 2007
10.14 Performance Share Award Performance Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 5.02(4)
Criteria for 2007-2009 Performance Period | to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the
Commission on December 21, 2006
10.15 Performance Share Award Performance Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 5.02(1)
Criteria for 2008-2010 Performance Period | to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the
Commission on November 21, 2007
10.16 Separation Agreement and Release Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3
effective July 25, 2008 between the to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with
Company and Jeffrey D. Fisher the Commission on September 11, 2008
10.17 Third Amendment to the Fourth Amended | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4
and Restated Credit Agreement dated to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with
September 10, 2008 the Commission on September 11, 2008
10.18 Note Purchase Agreement dated June 5, Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5
2006 between the Company and purchasers | to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with
of $50 million of the Company’s 5.78% the Commission on September 11, 2008
Senior Notes
10.19 Amended and Restated Note Purchase Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6
Agreement (Initially Dated as of June 3, to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with
2006) dated September 10, 2008 6.82% the Commission on September 11, 2008
Senior Notes due 2011
10.20 Note Purchase Agreement dated September | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7
15, 2004 between the Company and to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with
purchasers of $150 million of the the Commission on September 11, 2008
company’s 5.54% Senior Notes
10.21 Amended and Restated Note Purchase Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8
Agreement (Initially Dated as of September | to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with
15, 2004) dated September 10, 2008 the Commission on September 11, 2008
6.58% Senior Notes due 2016
10.22 Term Loan Agreement dated February 16, Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9

2005 between the Company and Calyon
New York Branch

to the Company's Form 10-Q filed with
the Commission on September 11, 2008
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10.23 Third Amendment to Term Loan Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10,10
Apreement dated September 10, 2008 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with
between the Company and Calyon New the Commission on September 11, 2008
York Branch
10.24 Intercreditor and Collateral Agency Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11
Agreement dated as of September 10, 2008 | to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with
by and among Bank of America, N.A,, as the Commission on September 11, 2008
Collateral Agent, and Bank of America,
N.A., as Administrative Agent, The
Lenders Party Hereto, the Noteholders
Party Hereto, and the Term Loan Lender
Party Hereto, as Creditors
10.25 Security Agreement dated as of September | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12
10, 2008, by and among Bank of America, | to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with
N.A., as Collateral Agent for the Secured the Commission on September 11, 2008
Parties
10.26 Form of Stock Appreciation Right Award Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
3.02(1) to the Company’s Form 8-K filed
with the Commission on May 27, 2008
10.27 Form of Restricted Stock Award Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
5.02(2) to the Company’s Form 8-K filed
with the Commission on May 27, 2008
10.28 Form of Performance Share Award Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
5.02(3) to the Company’s Form 8-K filed
with the Commission on May 27, 2008
10.29 Waiver and Amendment Agreement to Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
Fourth Amended and Restated Credit to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the
Agreement dated as of July 30, 2008 Commission on August 6, 2008
10.30 Fourth Amended and Restated Credit Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2
Agreement dated as of June 2, 2006 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the
Commission on August 6, 2008
18 Letter re change in accounting principle Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 18 to
the Company’s Form 10-Q) filed with the
Commission on June &, 2006
21 Subsidiaries of Registrant Filed herewith
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Filed herewith
Accounting Firm
3i.1 Section 302 Certification of Chief Filed herewith
Executive Officer
312 Section 302 Certiftcation of Chief Financial | Filed herewith
Officer
321 Section 1350 Certification of Chief Filed herewith
Executive Officer
322 Section 1350 Certification of Chief Filed herewith

Financial Officer
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused
this repott to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

January 12, 2009

SPARTECH CORPORATION

/s/ Myles S. Odaniell

Myles S. Odaniell

President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Date

January 12, 2009

January 12, 2009

January 12, 2009

January 12, 2009

January 12, 2009

January 12, 2009

January 12, 2009

January 12, 2009

January 12, 2009

January 12, 2009

Signature

/s/ Myles S. Odaniell

Myles S. Odaniell

/s/ Randy C. Martin

Randy C. Martin

/s/ Ralph B. Andy

Ralph B. Andy

/s/ Lloyd E. Campbell

Lloyd E. Campbell

/s/ Edward J. Dineen

Edward J. Dineen

/s/ Victoria M. Holt

Victoria M. Holt

/s/ Walter J. Klein

Walter J. Klein

/s/ Pamela F. Lenchan

Pamela F. Lenehan

/s/ Jackson W. Robinson

Jackson W. Robinson

/s/ Craig A. Wolfanger

Craig A. Wolfanger
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Title

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Executive Vice President Corporate

Development and Chief Financial

Officer (Principal Financial and

Accounting Officer)

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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SPARTECH CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE II - YALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED 2008, 2007, AND 2006
(Dollars in thousands)

ADDITIONS AND
BALANCE AT CHARGES TO

BEGINNING OF COSTS AND BALANCE AT
DESCRIPTION PERIOD EXPENSES WRITE-OFFS END OF PERIOD
November 1, 2008
Allowance for
Doubtful Accounts £ 1572 $ 4,763 $ (1,78%) $ 4,550
November 3, 2007
Allowance for
Doubtful Accounts $ 1,514 $ 2,099 $ (2,041) $ 1,572
October 28, 2006
Allowance for
Doubtful Accounts $ 2,557 $ 2,330 £ (3,379 $ 1,514




Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following registration statements:

(1) Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-109682) of Spartech Corporation and subsidiaries, and

(2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 Nos. 333-61322, 333-60316, 333-60381, 333-30878, and 333-113752) of Spartech
Corporation and subsidiaries

of our reports dated January 12, 2009, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of Spartech

Corporation and subsidiartes and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Spartech Corporation and
subsidiaries, included in their Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended November 1, 2008,

/s/ Emst & Young LLP

St. Louis, Missouri
January 12, 2009



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Myles S. Odaniell, certify that:

1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Spartech Corporation;

2, Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and
for, the periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ¢nsure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period
in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conciusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal centrol
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the Audit Committee of the registrant’s Board of Directors:

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control or financial reporting.

January 12, 2009 By: /s/ Myles S. Odaniell

Date Myles S. Odaniell

President and Chief Executive Officer
Spartech Corporation




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Randy C. Martin, certify that:

L.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Spartech Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and
for, the periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant’s other cerifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period
in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the Audit Committee of the registrant’s Board of Directors:

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likety to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control or financial reporting,

January 12, 2009 By: /s/ Randy C. Martin

Date Randy C. Martin

Fxecutive Vice President Corporate Development
and Chief Financial Officer Executive
Spartech Corporation




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13a-14(b) AND
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the Annual Report of Spartech Corporation (the “Company™) on Form 10-K for the period ended
November 1, 2008, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), [, Myles S.
Qdaniell, President and Chief Executive Officer, certify, to the best of my knowledge, pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-
14(b) and 18 U.5.C. Section 1350, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and resulis of
operations of the Company.

{s/ Myles S. Odaniell

Myles S. Odaniell

President and Chief Executive Officer
January 12, 2009




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13a-14(b) AND
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the Annual Report of Spartech Corporation (the “Company™) on Form 10-K for the period ended
November 1, 2008, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), I, Randy C.
Mattin, Executive Vice President Corporate Development and Chief Financial Officer, certify, to the best of my knowledge,
pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(b) and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

{s/ Randy C. Martin
Randy C. Martin

Executive Vice President Corporate Development
and Chief Financial Officer Executive
January 12, 2009



Investor Information

ANNUAL SHAREHOLDERS' MEETING

Spartech’s Annual Shareholders’ Meeting will be held on Wednesday,
March 11, 2009. A formal notice of the Meeting, including the location
and tirme, together with a Proxy Statement, will be mailed before the
meeting to shareholders entitled to vote.

COMMON STOCK AND TRANSFER AGENT

As of January 9, 2009, there were approximately 1,250 shareholders of
record of the Company's common stock. The Campany’s Registrar
and Transfer Agent is Mellon Investor Services, LLC, 480 Washington
Boulevard, Jersey City, N 07310-1900. The Company’s common stock
is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “SEH.”

DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT PLAN AND REPORT ON FORM 10-K
A Dividend Reinvestment Plan is available to shareholders of the
Company, allowing the automatic investment of cash dividends and
direct cash purchases of the Company’s common stock. For details
on the Plan, please contact the Company’s Registrar and Transfer
Agent, Mellon Investor Services LLC, at (888) 213-0945. In addition,
the Coempany will provide, without charge to any shareholder, a copy
of its 2008 Report on Form 10-K as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. Requests should be directed to Spartech
Investor Relations at (888) 721-4242, Additionally, a link to all of
the Company’s SEC filings can be found in the Investor Relations
section of the Company’s Web site at www.spartech.com.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board of Directors has established specific Corporate Governance
Guidelines, a Code of Ethics for the Chief Executive Officer and Senior
Financial Officers, and a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for all
directors, officers and employees. These documents are provided on
the Company’s Web site at www.spartech.com within the Investor
Relations/Carporate Governance section of the site. At this same
Web site location, the Company provides an Ethics Hotline phone
number that allows employees, shareholders, and other interested
parties to communicate with the Company's management or Audit
Committee {on an anonymous basis, if so desired) through an
independent third-party hotline. In addition, this same Web site
location provides instructions for shareholders or other interested
parties to contact the Company’s Board of Directors.

The rules of the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) require Mr. Odaniell,
our President and Chief Executive Officer at the end of the fiscal year,
te certify to the NYSE annually that he is not aware of any violation by
the Company of the NYSE's corporate governance listing standards. In
addition, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
Mr. Odaniell and Mr. Martin, our Chief Financial Officer, must execute
a certification as to the quality of our public disclosures as part of
our quarterly and annual reports to the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC). Their latest Section 302 certifications have been
filed with the SEC as exhibits to our 2008 Form 10-K.

COMMON STOCK PERFORMANCE FISCAL YEARS ENDED {Based on an initial $100 Investment)

= Spartech Corporation === S&P 500 Index

*=vs S&P Specialty Chemicals Index
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30 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
— $100.00 $110.50 $83.23 $123.80 $ 72.54 $30.70
=== $100.00 $107.57 $114.06 $131.09 $143.68 $92.20
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Board of Directors

Ralph B. Andy (64)
Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of
Pennatronics Corp. He
serves as Chairman of
the Beard. His term as
Director expires at the
2011 Annual Meeting.

Lloyd E. Campbell (51)

Constltant at Spencer
Stuart. His term as Director
expires at the 2011 Annual
Meeting. {1, 3*)

Edward J. Dineen {54)

President, Chemicals
Division of LyondellBasselt
Industries and a member
of its Management Board.
His term as Director
expires at the 2010
Annua! Meeting. {2, 3]

Pamela F. Lenehan (56)
President of Ridge Hill
Consulting LLC. Her term
as Director expires at the
2010 Annual Meeting. (2*}

© Mixed Sources
Product growp frem wirll-mansged
Teests, controled parc e
racyched wood or flber

FSC worm 5t qug Cont n SW-COC-00210%

0 1954 Forsat Stewardchip Councl

Myles 8. Odaniell (49)

Prestdent and Chief
Executive Officer of the
Company. His term as
Director expires at the
2010 Annual Meeting.

The cover, narrative and financial sections of this
annual report are printed on an FSC certified paper,
which contains 10% post-consumer content.

Jackson W. Robinson (66}

President and Chief
Investment Officer of
Winslow Management
Company LLC. His term
as Director expires at the
2011 Annual Meeting. (3)

Victoria M. Holt (51)

Senior Vice President,
Glass and Fiber Glass,
of PPG Industries. She
stands for reelection
at the 2009 Annual
Meeting. {2, 3}

Craig A. Wolfanger (50}

President and Chief
Executive Officer of
Raptor Partners LLC.

He stands for reelection
at the 2009 Annual
Meeting. (1, 2)

Walter ). Kiein (62)

Former Vice President,
Finance, of Stepan
Company, He stands for
reelection at the 2009
Annual Meeting. {17)

Board Committees
(1) Audit Committee
(2) Compensation Committee
(3) Governance Committee
* Committee Chairman
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SPARTECH CORPORATICN
120 S. Central, Suite 1700
Clayton, Missouri 63105-1705
(314} 721-4242

www.spartech.com .
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